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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Samart Digital Public Company Limited

Opinion

| have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Samart Digital Public
Company Limited and its subsidiaries {the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, and have also audited the separate financial statements of Samart Digital Public
Company Limited for the same period.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries and of Samart
Digital Public Company Limited as at 31 December 2023, their financial performance and cash

flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.
Basis for Opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. My responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of my report. | am independent of the Group in accordance with the
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants including Independence Standards issued by the
Federation of Accounting Professions (Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants) that are
relevant to my audit of the financial statements, and | have fulfilled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. | believe that

the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

I draw attention to Note 1.2 to the financial statements regarding the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern. The Group has incurred operating losses for a number of
consecutive years. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by Baht 2,230 million (the Company only: Baht 2,651 million). Additionally, it had a deficit
of Baht 5,625 million. In addition, since 27 February 2023, the Company’s securities have been
posted with “C" (Caution) sign. However, the Company entered into business alliance agreements
with a group of customers in order to increase its capability to provide Digital Trunked Radio System
(DTRS) services, which is a new business in which it possesses expertise and experience.

Furthermore, the Company is currently negotiating with other customer groups to offer its services.

In addition, as mentioned in Note 20 to the financial statements, the Company was unable to
maintain certain financial ratios and shareholding percentages as stipulated in the loan
agreements with financial institutions. Therefore, the loans of Baht 1,851 million may be payable
on demand. However, the Company expects to receive waivers from the financial institutions. In
addition, the Company received Letter of Intent from its parent company committing to providing
continuous financial support to the Group. The management therefore believes that the Group will

be able to continue as a going concern.

The above circumstances indicate that there are material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. This will depend on the Group's
ability to manage cash flows to be adequate for debt repayments, the success of negotiations
with the financial institutions to amend the conditions and extend the repayment period of its

long-term loans, and the success of its plans to enhance future operations.

My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Emphasis of Matter

| draw attention to Note 36.6 to the financial statements regarding a dispute of I-Mobile Plus Co., Ltd
a subsidiary, relating to breach of contract with respect to 3G mobile network service trial project with
an organisation. In October 2018, a subsidiary filed a plaint claiming compensation from such
organisation with the Civil Court amounting to Baht 1,941 milfion. On 9 March 2023, the Court of First
Instance issued a judgment ordering such organisation to pay the subsidiary Baht 748 million in
compensation, plus interest from the date of filing until the debt is fully paid. On 5 September 2023,
the subsidiary filed an appeal against the judgment of the Court of First Instance, requesting the Court
of Appeal to consider the case and order the defendant to pay additional damages tetaling

Baht 812 million. Currently, the case is being considered by the Court of Appeal. However, in 2020
such organisation filed a suit against the Company and the subsidiary with the Central Administrative
Court demanding payments of fees and interest thereon amounting to Baht 212 miltion (including
interest thereon). On 14 December 2023, the Civil of First Instance issued an order that both the
Company and its subsidiary collectively pay Baht 137 million to such organisation, along with an
annual interest, starting from 20 December 2017, until the complete settlement. As of 31 December
2023, the subsidiary has fully recorded the liability (under provision and other payable).
Subsequently, on 9 February 2024, the subsidiary sought an extension for the appeal period,
which the court granted, extending the appeal deadline until 14 March 2024.

Based on the opinion of the legal advisor and the Group's management, it is believed that the Group
will not incur significant losses related to the two disputes. Nevertheless, the outcomes of these disputes

are currently pending finalisation and are contingent upon the judicial proceedings in the future.

The subsidiary has exercised prudence in recognising the aforementioned debt in accordance
with accounting standards. This recognition does not alter the nature of the case and should not
be construed as a waiver of legal rights. Additionally, the recording of this debt does not imply
that the Company and its subsidiary will abstain from asserting their rights through the legal
justice process in the future. The Company and the subsidiary maintain confidence in their legal
position and are committed fo pursuing the legal process until its conclusion.

My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance
in my audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of my audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon,

and | do not provide a separate opinion on these ma‘tters.

| have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of my report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
my audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to my assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of my audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for my audit

opinion on the accompanying financial statements as a whole.

tn addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section,
key audit matters and how audit procedures respond for each matter are described below.

Compliance with loan covenants

As disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements, as at 31 December 2023 the Company has
long-term loans amounting to Baht 1,851 million. Under the loan agreements, the Company has
to comply with certain conditions including maintaining financial ratios as stipulated in the
agreements. As the long-term foan has significant balances in the financial statements
{accounting for 44% and 40% of total liabilities in the consolidated and separate financial
statements, respectively), there is a risk that the Company could not comply with the certain
conditions or maintain financial ratios in accordance with the loan covenants. This could resulted
in the loan becoming payable on demand and reclassification from non-current liabilities to

current liabilities and also the going concern of the Company.

| have checked the conditions and loan covenants as stipulated in the agreements and tested the
correctness of the calculation of financial ratios whether they were complied with the loan
covenants. | have inquired with the management regarding the process for tracking the condition
and loan covenants as well as the process of the waiver in case of breaching the loan covenants.
In addition, | have reviewed the appropriateness of the classification of loans and assessed the
adequacy of information disclosed in notes to the financial statements with respect to the
compliance with the loan covenants, as well as the appropriateness of the going concern basis

used in preparing the financial statements of the Company.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Revenue recognition from contract work

The Group has disclosed its policies on revenue recognition for services provided under long-term
contracts in Note 4.1 and 5.1 to the financial statements. | identified revenue recognition from
contract work to be area of significant risk in the audit. This is because the amount of revenue from
contract work forms a significant portion, representing 83 percent of the Group’s total revenue,

in addition, the process of measurement and the determination of appropriate timing of recognition
from long-term contracts are areas requiring management to exercise significant judgement to assess

the percentage of completion. Therefore | focused on the revenue recognition from long-term contracts.

| gained understanding of the internal controls put in place by the Group over the process of
relating to the method that the management used in estimation of the percentage of completion,
recognition of revenue and cost of contract work. | made enquiries of responsible executives, gained
an understanding of the Group's process to assess the percentage of completion and cost
estimates for project. In addition, | also selected long-term contracts made with major customers
to read the contracts to consider the conditions relating to revenue recognition and made enquiries as
to whether any side contracts were made directly with customer, | inquired with the management
about the terms of risks associated with these contracts relevant to revenue recognition.

[ compared estimates of project costs to the project budgets approved by authorised person.

On a sampling basis, | examined relevant documents, considered the rationale for budget
revisions, and compared actual costs with supporting documents including testing the calculation
of the percentage of completion based on actual costs incurred.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the
information included in annual report of the Group, but does not include the financial statements
and my auditor’s report thereon. The annual report of the Group is expected to be made available
to me after the date of this auditor's report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and | do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

When | read the annual report of the Group, if | conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, | am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance for correction
of the misstatement.

A mermber firm of £rnst & Young Globat Limited
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is respensible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, | exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal controi relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabieness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continuie as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, [ am required
to draw aitention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. | am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. | remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal contro! that | identify during my audit.

[ also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have complied with relevant

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where

applicable, related safeguards.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



Building a better
working world

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, | determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. | describe these matters in my auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
| determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits

of such communication.

| am responsibie for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report.

Piya Chaipruckmalakarn

Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 7544

EY Office Limited
Bangkok: 22 February 2024

A member firm of Ernst & Young Globat Limited



Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2023

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Shaort-term loans

Current portion of iong-term loans to employeas
Inventories

Other current financial assets
Other current asseis

Total current assets
Non-current assets

Restricted bank deposits

Other non-current financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assels

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

Tofal assets

=
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)

10
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14
22
16
33

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financiat statements.

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2023

66,378,842
1,454 878,767
70,833
88,435,300
425,000
453,162,574

2022

213,153,518
86,458,907

220,973,850
767,536
588,687,378

2023

44,381,417
1,482,067,518
20,960,861
70,833
98,410,693

429,026,190

2022

179,530,563
97,984,847
104,085,713
220,829,240
168,000
541,284,386

2,073,348 316

1,210,041,289

2,075,817,512

1,243,082,759

102,795,056
3,037,395

2,275,258,869

102,749,334
2,666,313

2,671,758,816

102,795,056
2,341,031
574,885,603
2,267,832,373

102,748,334
1,877.700
562,658,223
2,658,612,047

5,842,662 61,056,827 3,148,781 9,165,742
53,178,913 54,634,770 - -
14,554 415 14,465,519 17,146,559 17,756,993
71,655,415 124,165,415 - -

2,526,322,725 3,041,497,094 2.968,356.403 3.352,810.039

4,589,671,041

4,251,538,383

5044176915

4,586,792,798




Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statement of financial position (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Liabilities and shareholders' equity

Current liabllities

Bank overdrafis and shori-{erm foans from financizl institutions
Trade and other payables

Short-term borrowings

Current portion of leng-term loans from financial instilutions
Current partion of lease liabilities

Inceme tax payable

Unearned revenue

Other current financial liabilities

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long-term loans from related company

Convertible debenturas

Lease liabilities, net of current portion

Provision for lang-term employee benefits

Long-term provision

Liabilities for investment in subsidiaries under equity method
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

e
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements

{Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2023

65,759,761
2.269,933.040
10,378,560
1.850.817.,664
1,506,511
256,965
3,496,531

1,265,378

2022

68,188,051
1.037,830,096
12,707,850
2,501,941,182
40,046,256
287,052
78,450,213
872,608

1,858,242

2023

63,059,761
2,171,996,497
536,500,000
1.850,817.664
541,301

2,821,060

1,133,529

2022

65,188,051
931,783,516
533,000,000

2,501,941,182
1,184,873
76,584,893
972,608
1,143,387

4,303,414,410

3,742,281,650

4,726.868.812

4,112,108,810

- 322,305,000 . 322,305,000

21,912,210 37,964,379 21,912,210 37,664 379
5,453,464 77,911,431 3,434,620 9,077,547
8,146,863 12,108,255 4,355,457 6.392.321
70,546,475 - - -

- - 88,701,809 26,241,342

106,059,013 450,289,085 118,404,066 401,980 588
4,400.473.423 4,192,570,715 4,845,273,908 4,514,088,195




Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statement of financial position (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Note
Liabilities and shareholders' equity (continued)
Shareholders' equity
Share capital 24
Registered
50,659,582,534 ordinary shares of Baht 0.1 each
(2022: 17,150,979,387 ordinary shares of Baht 0.1 each)
Issued and fully paid-up
29,793,015,672 ordinary shares of Baht 0.1 each
(2022: 13,974,865,154 ordinary shares of Baht 0.1 each)
Share premium
Deficit on changes in percentage of shareholding in subsidiary
Retained earnings
Appropriated - statutory reserve 25

Unappropriated (deficit)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries
Total shareholders' equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

0‘/{/ -__(

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2023

5,065,958,253

2022

1,715,097,938

2023

5,065,958,253

2022

1,.715,097,838

2,979,301,567
2,800,118,660
(206,369)

44,400,000
(5.624,710,851)

1,307,486,515
3,500,242,485
(206,369)

44,400,000
(4,868,219,032)

2,979,301,567
2,800,118,660
(206,369)

44,400,000
(5,624,710,851)

1.397,486,515
3,509,242 485
(206,369)

44,400,000

(4,868,219,032)

198,903,007 82,703,599 198,903,007 82,703,589
(8,705,389) (23,735,831) - 5
190,197,618 58,967,668 198,903,007 82,703,599
4,599,671,041 4,251,538,383 5,044,176,915 4,596,792,798

qm/fw{% A AT

NPV,

e mdﬂ/

T vam‘nmn‘

Directors

usdn dwnsn ARaa 9NA (UNU)
Samart Digital Public Company Limited



Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Income statement

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Consolidated financial statements

{Unii: Baht}

Separate financial statements

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenues
Sales 80,321,293 132,269,489 88,816,804 131,424,013
Service income 26 184,162,896 158,057,071 81,728,641 38,680,038
Revenue from contract work 1,624,141,326 341,798,281 1.624,141.326 341,798,281
Gain on exchange 11,497 905 4,013,978 11,467,905 4,013,878
Other income 28 55,361,137 6,806,592 17,418,419 13,586,189
Total revenues 1,965,484,557 642,045,411 1,823,605,185 528,502,499
Expenses 28
Cost of sales 83,075,365 128,148,375 82,306,105 125,516,285
Cost of services 267,710,224 204,852,306 174,437,824 77,048,787
Cost of confract work 1,571,602.781 330,741,647 1,571.602,781 330,741,617
Selling and distribution expenses 13,641,702 8,777.680 817,752 2,048,434
Administrative expenses 71,926,984 95,720,037 37.886,037 66,469,784
Impairment loss cn equipment 404,820,588 393,800,000 404,820,588 393,000,000
Other expenses 30 116,434,842 137,508,195 3,557,670 835,413
Total expenses 2,529,212,588 1,297,748,300 2,275,528,757 995,658,320
Operating loss {563,728,02%) (654,802,8809) (451,923,572) {466,155,821)
Share of loss from investments in subsidiaries 13 - (142,880,224) (122,114,115}
Finance income 1,152,485 528,374 16,610,218 12,277,697
Finance cost 21 {181,783,478) (183,660,583) (182,280,840) {180.150.6085)
Reversal of impairment {loss) on financial assets 8 7,502,000 (127,429,751) 7,352,000 (127,381,601)
Loss before income tax expenses (736,857.010) (865,364 ,848) (752.922,418) (883,524,445)
Income tax expenses 32 (1,645,300) (298,843,965) {610,434) (291.610,206)
Loss for the year {738,502,310)  (1.265,308,814) (753,632,852)  {1,175,134,651)
Loss attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (753,532,852}  (1,175,134,651) (753,532,852)  (1,175,134,651)
tNon-controlling interests of the subsidiaries 15,030,542 (90,174,163)

(738,502,310}  (1.265,308,814)

Basic loss pershare 33
Loss attributable to equily holders of the Company {0.05) (0.09} {0.05) (0.09)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares {shares) 15,065,015,326 13,315,860,462 15,065,015,326 13,315,860,462

The accompanying notes are an integral par of the financzial statements.



Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 Decembher 2023

Consolidated financial statements

{Unit: Bahf}

Separate financial statements

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

Loss for the year (738,502,310  (1,285,308,814) (753,5632,852)  (1,175,134,651)
Other comprehensive income:
items not fo be reclassified to profit or loss in

subseguent pericds:
Actuarial loss - {851,251) - (649.,475)
Income tax effect 32 - 47,805 - 23,902
Reversal of actuarial gain on defined benefit plan from

disposal of investment in subsidiary 23 (2,958,967) - {2,958,887) -

(2.958,967) (903,446) (2.958,967) {625,573)

ltems not to be reclassified to profit or ioss in

subseguent periods - net of income tax (2,958,967} (903,446) {2,958,867) {625,573)
Qther comprehensive loss for the year (2,958,967) (803,446) (2,958,967} {625,573)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(741,4681,277)

(1,266,212,260)

(756,491,818)

(1,175,760,224)

Total comprehensive loss atfributable to:

Equity helders of the Company

Non-centrolling interests of the subsidiaries

(756,481,819}

15,330,542

(1,176,038,097)

(90,174,163

(756,491,819)

(1,175,760,224)

(741,461,277)

(1,266,212,260)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements,
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Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Lass before tax
Adjustments to reconcile loss befare tax to
net cash provided by (paid from) operating activities:
Unreafised loss on exchange
Loss on change in value of other current financial assets
Less on disposal of other current financial assets
Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiary
Loss on change in fair value of forward exchange contracts
Increase (decrease) in aliowance for expected credit losses
~ frade acccunts receivable
Write-off trade receivabies
Reversal of reduction cost of inventory 10 net reaiisable value
Write-off withholding tax deducted at sources
Share of loss from investments in subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of equipment
Increase in alfowance for impairment of equipment
Depreciation cn eguipment
Write-off right-of-use assets
Decrease in allowance for impairment of right-of-use assets
(ain) loss on leases termination
Increase in allowance for impairment of
other non-current assets
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Transfer equipment to expenses
Write-off equipment
Write-off goodwiil
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amaortisation of deferred interests under lease agreements
Increase {decrease) in provision for
long-term employee benefils
Loss from fong-ferm provision
Finance income
Finance cost
Profit (loss) from operating activities before changes

in operating assets and liabilities

The accompanying nofes are an integral part of the financia: statements.
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Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
(736,857,010) {965,364,849} (752,922.418) (883,524 445)
(577,284) (3.591,735) (577.294) {3.591,735)
- 228.000 228,000
72,271 - 72.271 -
(1,242,786} - -
- 872,608 - 872,608
(7.958,359) 126,567.070 (7,698,709) 127,381,801
456,359 920,183 344,709 .
(37,155,049) (116,892) (35,768.429) {3.485)
80,973 3 - -
- 142,880,224 122,114,115
(364,383) (1,387,061) {349,271} (915,469)
402,198,621 392,029,997 402,198,621 392,029,897
140,626,500 85,281,088 138,212,595 77,656,513
364,123 - - .
{77,252,000) 77,292,000 -
33,153,643 . {(493,582) -
50,832,500 . -
12,788,366 28,857,112 1,434,858 1,445 644
22,835 - 22,935
3,485,308 1,805,413 3485368 1,805,413
59,323,000 -
17,285,687 15,048,842 - -
5,776,822 6,542,005 480,641 541,766
g37.870 (282 .656) 311,803 (120,025}
61,588,677 - -
(1,152,495) (528,375) (16,810,218) (12,277.697)
166,432,074 167,421,880 172,314,187 170,111,763
33,462,608 {7,958,478) 47,117,384 6,222.511)



S8amart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of cash flows {continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Cash flows from operating activities {continued)

Operating assets (increase) decrease

Trade and other receivables

Inventories

Other current financial assets

Other current assets

Other non-current financial assets

Other non-current assets
Operating liabilitles increase (decrease)

Trade and ofher payables

Other current liabilities and ungarnad revenue
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash paid for interest expenses

Cash paid for corporate income tax

Cash received from withholding tax refundable

Cash received from value added tax

Cash paid for employee benefif

Cash received from other non-current assets
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Net Cash flow from disposal of subsidiary

Cash paid to provide short-term loans to related parties

Cash received for interest income

Cash paid to provide short-ferm loans to employees

Cash received from short-term loans to employaas

{Increase) decrease in restricted bank deposits
Cash paid for acquisition of equipment

Cash paid for acquisition of intangible assets

Cash received from disposal of other current financial assets

Proceeds from disposal of equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated financial statements

{Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
(1,367,995,136) 64,131,805 (1,373,488,518) 57,066,833
159,370,964 20,710,510 157,964 242 20,521,673
{100,008) 115,133,002 - 115,732,538
224,478,105 {160,328,279) 215,831,076 (169.256,067)
(371,082) 103,259 (463,331) 125,901
1.877.500 - - -
1,263,064,189 208,851,507 1,261,543,853 215,009,393
(76,334 ,988) 56,544,303 (75,046,399) 56,825,227
237,252,162 297,186,631 233,458,306 299,802,987
(169,881.630) {152,718,797) (200,483,088} (152.786,959)
(7,103,397) {7.402,778) (3,572,870) {2,815,258)
20,768,050 678,600 - 455,048
1,439,480 409,522 - -
(2,348,887) (1,510,667} (2,348,867) -
274,538 - -
50,400,514 136,642,811 27,043,681 144,561,818
{2.821.,412) - -
- - (5,500,000} (17,700,000)
1,152,495 528,375 995173 466,338
{147,220) - {100,000) -
76,387 v 20,167 -
{45,722} 318,091 (45,722) 318.091
{132,326,158) (364,225,896) {131.531.195) (357,776,321}
(2,065,000) - .
85,729 95,729
4,976,181 1,305,388 4,831,055 584,344
(131,104,718} (362,074,042) (131,125,783) {374,097.548)




Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of cash flows {continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts

Proceeds from short-term loans from banks

Repayment of short-term loans from banks

Proceeds from short-term loans from related parties

Repaymaent of short-term loans from related parties

Repayment of short-ferm loans from unrelated parties

Repayment of long-term icans from financial insfifutions

Proceed from long-term loans from ralated parties

Repayment of principal portion of iong-term loan from
related parties

Proceed from issuance of convertible debentures

Proceed from increase in share capital

Proceed from issuance of warrant

Repayment of principal pertion of lease fiabilities

Repaymeni of interest expense of lease liabilities

Net cash flows from {used in} financing activities

Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalanis at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flows information
Non-cash items for investing activities
Accounts payable for purchases of equipment
Accounts payable for purchases of intangible assets
Increase {decrease) in right-of-use assets from
lease liabilities
Transfer equipment {o inventories
Transfer inventories to equipment
Transfer equipment to intangible assets
Non-cash items for financing activities

Debentures converted to ardinary shares

The accompanying notes are ar integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated financial statemenis

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2023

(2,128,290}
11,700,000
(12.000.000}

(2,329,390}
(551,123,518}

2022

45,802,998
12,000,000
{12,000.000)

(224,538,596)

2623

(2,128,200)

3,500.000

(551,123,518)

2022

49,802,998

46,500.000
(36,500,000}

{224,538,596)

66,000,000 - 66,000,000

(388,305,000} - (388,305.000) -
138.000,000 460,000,000 138,000,000 460,000,000
704,690,977 - 704,690,877 -
250 . 250 -
(24.,798.679) {11.320,888) (1,220,812} (1,127 .644)
(5.776,822) {6,542,005) (480,641} (541,768)
(66.070,472) 287,401,509 (31,067,034} 293,594,992
(146,774 676) 41,970,278 (135,149,146) 64,059,262
213,153,518 171,183,240 179,530,563 115,471,301
§6,378,842 213,153,518 44,381,417 179,530,583
678,678,837 657,429,057 678,678,937 657,405,883
2,803,321 966,461 - -
(46,818) 2,387,697 (97,088) -
1,023,172 7,108 1,023,172 7,108
1,345,807 1,386,431 1,345,907 1,386,431
1,828,000 - - -
168,000,000 486,000,000 168,000,600 489,000,000



Samart Digital Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes to consofidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

1.1

1.2

2.1

General information
Corporate information

Samart Digital Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public company incorporated
and domiciled in Thailand. Its parent company of the Group is Samart Corporation Public
Company Limited, which was incorporated in Thailand. The Company is principally engaged
in the distribution of telecommunications equipment and providing integrated business in
digital network and solution. Its registered address is 99/2, Moo 4, Software Park Building,
34th Floor, Chaengwattana Road, Klong Gluar, Pak-kred, Nonthaburi.

Fundamental accounting assumptions

The Group incurred had operating losses for a number of consecutive years. As at
31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by Baht 2,230 million
(the Company only; Baht 2,651 million). Additionally, it had a deficit of Baht 5,625 million.
In addition, since 27 February 2023, the Company's securities have been posted with “C”
(Caution) sign. However, the Company entered into business alliance agreements with a
group of customers in order to increase its capability to provide Digital Trunked Radio
System (DTRS) services, which is a new business in which it possesses expertise and
experience. Furthermore, the Company is currently negotiating with other customer groups
to offer its services. In addition, the major shareholder continues to provide support to the
Group. The management therefore believes that the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern. The assets and liabilities are recorded on a basis whereby the Group will be
able to realise its assets and meet its obligations in the ordinary course of business.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting
Standards enunciated under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their
presentation has been made in compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the
Department of Business Development issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543,

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of
the Company. The financial statements in English language have been transiated from the
Thai [anguage financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where
otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies.



2.2 Basis of consolidation

a)

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Samart Digital

Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and the following subsidiary companies

("the subsidiaries”) (collectively as “the Group"):

Subsidiaries directly held by the Company

Country of Percentage of
Company's name Nature of business incorporation shareholding
2023 2022
Percent Percent
Samart Digifal Media Co.,  Provision content services via Thailand 100 100
Ltd. audiotext and call center
i-Mobile Plus Co., Ltd. Temporarily ceased its business Thailand 100 100
Zecureasia Co., Ltd. Temporarily ceased its business Thailand 100 100
Samart Mobile Services Temporarily ceased its business Thailand 97 4 97.4
Co., Ltd.
Lucky Heng Heng Co., Lid,  Operate all kinds of forecasting and Thailand 100 100
astrology
Thai Base Station Co., Ltd.  Provision space rental and other Thailand 100 100

service and distribute
telecommunication equipment and

systems

Indirect subsidiaries held by the Company’s subsidiaries

Country of Parcentage of indirect
Company’s name Nature of business incorporaticn shareholding
2023 2022
Percent Percent
Investments through Samart Digital Media Co., Ltd.
|-Sport Co., Ltd. Provision of information of sports via Thailand 50 50
full option interactive multimedia
Entertainment Tree Co., Ltd. Production, sale and provision of all Thaitand 61.87 61.87
kinds of entertainment-related
content through multiple channels
Investments through I-Sport Co., Ltd.
Siam Sport Television Television media, sport license and Thailand - 50

Co., Ltd. sport-related business



2.3

3.1

The Company is deemed to have control over an investee or subsidiaries if it has
rights, or is exposed, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and it

has the ability to direct the activities that affect the amount of its returns.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated, being the date on which the Company obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same significant
accounting policies as the Company.

Material balances and transactions between the Group has been eliminated from the

consolidated financial statements.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of the
subsidiaries that are not held by the Company and are presented separately in the
consolidated profit or loss and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

in recording the acquisition of additional shares of subsidiaries (repurchase of shares
from non-controlling interests) when the fair value of the net assets acquired is higher
than the cost of the investment the difference has been presented in shareholders’
equity under the caption of “Surplus (deficit) on change in percentage of shareholding

in subsidiary”,

The separate financial statements present investments in subsidiaries under the equity method.

New financial reporting standards

Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

During the year, the Group has adopted the revised financial reporting standards and

interpretations which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding

International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards

clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards.

The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on

the Group's financial statements.



3.2 Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on

or after 1 January 2024

The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of revised financial reporting
standards, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2024, These
financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International
Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying
accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards.

The management of the Group believes that adoption of these amendments will not have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Significant accounting policies
Revenue and expense recognition
Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when controf of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery of the goods. Revenue is measured at
the amount of the consideration received or receivable, excluding value added tax, of goods
supplied after deducting returns and discounts.

Rendering of services

Service revenue is recognised at a point in time upon completion of the service or
recognised over time when services have been rendered taking into account the stage of
completion, measuring based on comparison of actual cosis incurred up to the end of the
period and total anticipated costs to be incurred to completion.

The obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer is presented under the caption of "Unearned revenue" in
the statement of financial position. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract.

Revenue from contract work

Revenues from long-term contracts, excluding value added tax, are recognised over time by
reference to the stage of completion which is measured by reference to the proportion that
actual construction costs incurred up to the end of the period to total anticipated
construction cost to be incurred to completion. Provision for the total anticipated loss on the
projects will be made in the accounts as soon as the possibility of loss is ascertained.



4.2

4.3

4.4

The likelthood of contract variations, claims and liquidated damages, delays in delivery,
contractual penaities or possible losses on long-term contracts is taken into account in
determining the revenue to be recognised, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not oceur.

When the value and stage of completion of the contract cannot be reasonably measured,
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

The service-type warranties provided customers with a service in addition to the assurance
that the product complies with agreed-upon specifications are recognhised as revenue over
the periods in which the service is provided.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method and recognised on an accrual
basis. The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
uniess the financial assets subsequently become credit-impaired when it is applied to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset (net of the expected credit loss allowance).

Finance cost

Interest expense from financial liabilities at amortised cost is calculated using the effective
interest method and recognised on an accrual basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at banks, and all highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal
restrictions.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (under the average method) and net realisable
value,

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Reduce cost of inventories to net realisable value will be set up for old, obsolete, slow moving
or deteriorated inventories.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in the separate financial statements using the
equity method.



4.5

4.6

Equipment/Depreciation

Condominium and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
allowance for loss on impairment of assets (if any).

Depreciation of condominium and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on the
straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Condominium - 20 years
Network equipment and network improvement - 5 years
Transmission equipment - 5- 10 years
Project equipment - 5-15 years
Furniture, fixture and office equipment - 3-10 years
Furniture of sound recording room - 3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles - 5 and 7 years
Equipment for rent - 3 years

Depreciation is included in determining income.
No depreciation is provided on assets under instaliation.

An item of equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future econamic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of an asset is
included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired through business combination are initially recognised at their fair
value on the date of business acquisition while intangible assets acquired in other cases are
recognised at cost. Following the initial recognition, the intangible assets are carried at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses (if any).

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on the straight-line basis over the economic
useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method of such
intangible assets are reviewed at least at each financial year end. The amortisation
expense is charged to profit or loss.



4.7

4.8

A summary of the intangible assets with finite useful lives is as follows:

Useful lives
Computer software - 5vyears and agreement term
Right for air time - byears
Right for telecommunication tower service - 10 years and agreement term

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method with the cost of the
acquisition being the fair value at the acquisition date of consideration transferred, and the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the
acquirer measures the non-controlling interest, if any, in the acquiree either at fair value or

at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are accounted for as expenses in the periods in which the costs

are incurred and the services are received,

Goodwill is initially recorded at cost, which equals to the excess of cost of business
combination over the fair value of the net assets acquired. If the fair value of the net assets
acquired exceeds the cost of business combination, the excess is immediately recognised
as gain in the profit or loss.

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for

impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is
allocated fo each of the Company's and its subsidiaries’ cash generating units (or group of
cash-generating units} that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
The Group estimates the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit {or group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in

profit or loss. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.
lLeases

At inception of contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of

an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.



The Group as a lessee

The Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. At the commencement date of the
lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use), the Group recognises right-of-
use assets representing the right to use underlying assets and lease liabilities based on

lease payments,
Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation, any
accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities initially recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date
of the lease, and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located less any lease incentives received.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets are calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-fine
basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease term.

Right-of-use building space 4-10 vyears
Transmission equipment 7and 10 vyears
Motor vehicles S5and7  vyears

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group at the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be payable under residual value guarantees. Moreover, the lease payments
inciude the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising an option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.



4.9

4.10

The Group discounted the present value of the lease payments by the interest rate implicit
in the lease or the Group's incremental borrowing rate. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a change in the
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

A lease that has a lease term less than or equal to 12 months from commencement date or
a lease of low-value assets is recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.
Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals or enterprises that control, or are controlled by, the Company,
whether directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Company.

They also include associates, and individuals or enterprises which directly or indirectly own
a voting interest in the Company that gives them significant influence over the Company,
key management personnel, directors and officers with authority in the planning and
direction of the Company’s operations.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Baht, which is also the
Company's functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period.

Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.



4.11

4.12

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs impairment reviews in respect of the
condominium, equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired. The Group alsc carries out
annual impairment reviews in respect of goodwill. An impairment loss is recognised when the
recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs o sell
and its value in use, is less than the carrying amount. In determining value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell an appropriate valuation model is used. These
calculations are corroborated by a valuation model that, based on information available, reflects
the amount that the Group could obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm's length
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

In the assessment of asset impairment (except for goodwill), if there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment fosses may no longer exist or may have decreased, the
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The increased carrying
amount of the asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss shall not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal, which exceeds the carrying amount that

would have been determined, is treated as a revaluation increase,
Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognised as

expenses when incurred.
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4.13

4.14

Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Company, its subsidiaries and their employees have jointly established a provident fund.
The fund is monthly contributed by employees and by the Group. The fund's assets are held in
a separate trust fund and the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ contributions are recognised as
expensas when incurred.

Defined benefit plans

The Group has obligations in respect of the severance payments they must make to
employees upon retirement under labor law. The Group freats these severance payment
obligations as a defined benefit plan.

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified
independent actuary based on actuarial techniques, using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in
other comprehensive income.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan
amendment or curtailment and the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related

costs.
Provision for vacation

The Group sets up provision for vacation which is calculated in accordance with the Group's
policy and formula, taking into consideration the employee's salary, the number of service
years and the unused vacation days.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

Current income tax

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expacted to be paid to the

taxation authorities, based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation.
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4,15

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, using the tax
rates enacted at the end of the reporting period.

The Group recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences while they
recognise deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried
forward to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which such deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is no longer probabile that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Group records deferred tax directly to shareholders' equity if the tax relates to items

that are recorded directly to shareholders’ equity.
Financial instruments

The Group initially measures financial assets at its fair value plus, in the case of financial
assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. However,
trade receivables, that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at

the transaction price as disclosed in the accounting policy relating to revenue recognition.
Classification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), or fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"). The classification of financial assets at initial recognition is
driven by the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual

cash flows characteristics of the financial assets.
Financial assets af amortised cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if the financial asset is heid in order
to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
rate ("EIR") method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Financial assets designated at FVOCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to irrevocably classify its equity investments
which are not held for trading as equity instruments designated at FVOCI. The classification
is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and fosses recognised in other comprehensive income on these financial assets are

never recycled to profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss, except when the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, the

gains are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Equity instruments designated at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are carried in the statement of financial position at fair

value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

These financial assets include derivatives, security investments held for trading, equity
investments which the Group has not irrevocably elected to classify at FVOCI and financial

assets with cash flows that are not sclely payments of principal and interest.
Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised as other income in profit or loss.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

Except for derivative liabilities, at initial recognition the Group's financial liabilities are
recognised at fair value net of transaction costs and classified as liabilities to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR
amortisation process. In determining amortised cost, the Group takes into account any
discounts or premiums on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integrai part of the EIR.

The EIR amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Convertible debentures

Convertible debentures are separated into liability and equity components based on the
terms of the contract.

On issuance of the convertible debentures, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount is
classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until i
is extinguished on conversion or redemption.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and
included in equity. Transaction costs are deducted from equity, net of associated income
tax. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in subseqguent years.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the
convertible debentures, based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity
components when the instruments are initially recognised.

Derecognition of financial instruments

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired or have been transferred and either the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or the Group has transferred control of
the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recoghises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs"} for all debt
instruments not held at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and alf the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.

For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure
(a lifetime ECL).
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4.16

The Group considers a significant increase in credit risk to have occurred when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, and considers a financial asset as credit
impaired or default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to have a significant increase in credit risk

and to be in default using other internal or external information, such as credit rating of issuers.

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

ECLs are calculated based on its historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward-

looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the

contractual cash flows.
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets

and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Derivatives

The Group uses derivatives, such as forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign
currency risks.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. The subsequent changes are
recognised in profit or loss. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is

positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Derivatives are presented as non-current assets or non-current liabilities if the remaining
maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not due to be realised or settled

within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.
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4.17 Fair value measurement

5.1

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between buyer and seller (market participants) at the measurement
date. The Group applies a quoted market price in an active market to measure their assets
and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting
standards. Except in case of no active market of an identical asset or liability or when a quoted
market price is not available, the Group measures fair value using valuation technique that
are appropriate in the circumstances and maximises the use of relevant observable inputs

related to assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on
categorise of input to be used in fair value measurement as follows:

Level 1 - Use of quoted market prices in an observable active market for such assets or
lfabilities

Level 2 - Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities, whether directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows

At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels within the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities held at the end of the

reporting pertod that are measured at fair vaiue on a recurring basis.
Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at
times requires management to make subjective judgements and estimates regarding
matters that are inherently uncertain. These judgements and estimates affect reported
amounts and disclosures; and actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant

judgements and estimates are as follows:
Revenue from contracts with customers
Identification of performance obligations

In identifying performance obligations, the management is required to use judgement
regarding whether each promise to deliver goods or services is considered distinct, taking
into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. In other words, if a good or
service is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract and if the customer can
benefit from it, it is accounted for separately.
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5.2

5.3

5.4

Determination of timing of revenue recognition

In determining the timing of revenue recognition, the management is required to use
judgement regarding whether performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in
time, taking into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. The Group

recognises revenue over time in the following circumstances:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the

entity’s performance as the entity performs

- the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as

the asset is created or enhanced: or

- the entity's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity

and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date

Where the above criteria are not met, revenue is recognised at a point in time. Where
revenue is recognised at a point in time, the management is required to determine when the

performance obligation under the contract is satisfied.

In calculating the revenue recognised over time, the management is required to use judgement

regarding measuring progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation.
Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables

In determining an allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables, the
management needs to make judgement and estimates based upon, among other things,
past collection history, aging profile of outstanding debts and the forecast economic
condition for groupings of various customer segments with similar credit risks. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast economic conditions may also not be

representative of whether a customer will actually default in the future.
Reducing cost to net realisable value of inventories

Determining the reduce cost to net realisable value of inventories requires management to
exercise judgement in term of estimating losses on outstanding inventories, based on the
selling price expected in the ordinary course of business less the estimated additional costs
to be incurred in preparing the inventory for sale; and reduce cost of inventories for
obsolete, slow-moving and deteriorated inventories, and taking into account the

approximate useful life of each type of inventory and current changes in technology.
Depreciation of equipment and right-of-use assets

In determining depreciation of equipment and right-of-use assets, the management is
required to make estimates of the useful lives and residual values of the equipment and to

review estimate useful lives and residual values when there are any changes.
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5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

In addition, the management is required to review impairment of equipment and right-of-use
assets on a periodical basis and record impairment losses when it is determined that their
recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. This requires judgements regarding
forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to the assets subject to the review.

Intangible assets

The initial recognition and measurement of intangible assets, and subsequent impairment
testing, require management to make estimates of cash flows to be generated by the asset
or the cash generating units and {o choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences and losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of estimate future taxable profits.

Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial techniques.
Such determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future
salary increase rate, mortality rate and staff turnover rate.

Contingent liabilities

The Group has contingent liabilities as a result of claims for payment. The management has
exercised judgement to assess the situation and believes that no liabilities will result.
Therefore, no contingent liabilities are recorded as at the end of reporting period.

Related party transactions

During the years, the Group had significant business transactions with related parties,
principally in respect of the purchase and sales of goods, provision of services, purchase of
equipment and loans. Such transactions were concluded on terms and bases agreed upon
between the Group and its related parties. The pricing policies for these related party
fransactions are summarised as follows:

1. Sales prices are determining at market price, if there is unknown market price, sales
price will be determined at cost plus a margin not over 15 percent. However, the
pricing policy is subject to change depending on the type of business and market
competition at the time being.

2. Rental expenses are charged at the amount stated in the agreement.

3. Management service income is charged at the amount stated in the agreement.
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10.
1.

Other service income and expenses are charged at a mutually agreed price.

Interest on loans to the subsidiary companies are charged at cost of fund plus 0.25

percent per annum.

Interest on loans from subsidiary companies are charged at average 12-month fixed

deposit rate of the big five commercial banks plus 0.25 percent per annum.
Interest on loans from parent company is charged at fixed rate per annum.

[T service fees expenses to parent company are charged at the amount stated in the

agreement which parent company sets based on cost plus a margin not over five percent.

Fixed assets are sold and purchased at their net book value plus a margin, depending
on the condition of assets.

Guarantee fee is charged between the parties at a rate of 0.3 percent per annum.

Directors and management's benefit expenses are charged as approved by the

shareholders’ meeting or confractually agreed price.

Significant business fransactions between the Group and its related parties were

summarised below.

{Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
Transactions with parent company
Purchase of equipment 504 168 504 168
IT service fee expense 5 5 1 1
Rental and other expenses 5 5 4 4
Inierest expenses 15 15 15 15
Transactions with subsidiary companies
(eliminated from the consolidated financial statements)
Management fee income - - 9 8
Interest income . - 16 12
Interest expenses - - 6 3
Transactions with related companies
Service income 8 6 3 2
Sales 43 81 42 81
Sale of equipment - 5 - 5
Purchase of equipment 237 518 237 516
Service of project fee 407 - 407 -
Rental and other expenses 7 12 3 8
Interest expenses 5 6 - -
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As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balances of the accounts between the Group and
those related parties were as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consotidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022

Trade accounts receivabies - related parties {Note 8)
Parent company 288 255 - -
Subsidiary companies - - 5370 5,370
Related companies (related by shareholder) 16,078 21,215 15,309 21,055
Total 16,365 21,470 20,679 26,425
Accrued service income 290 301 - -
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 43) - . {6,370) (5,370)
Total frade accounts receivables - related parties - net 16,655 21,771 5,309 21,055
Amounts due from and advance to reiated

parties (Note 8)
Parent company 7 7 7 7
Subsidiary companies - - 92,008 73,768
Related companies (related by shareholder) - 1 - 1
Total 7 8 92,013 73,776
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 13) - - (49.681) (42,580)
Totat amounts due from and advance to related

parties - net 7 8 42,332 31,186
Trade accounts payable - related parties

(Note 18)
Parent company 709,387 176,087 709,387 176,087
Related companies (related by shareholder) 426,523 - 426,523 -
Total trade accounts payable - related parties 1,135810 176,087 1,135.910 176,087
Amounts due to and advance from related

parties (Note 18}
Parent company 985 34,803 121 33,986
Subsidiary companies - - 20,224 14,949
Related companies (refated by sharehclder) 721,593 186,116 720,935 185,725
Total amounts due to and advance from

related parties 722,558 220,819 741,280 234,660
Accrued expenses - related parties (Note 18)
Related companies (related by sharehoider) 550 477,923 550 477,923
Total accrued expenses - related parfies 550 477,923 550 477,923
Unearned revenue - related parties
Parent company 21 21 21 21
Subsidiary companies - - 113 113
Related companies {related by shareholder) 2,541 2,131 2,541 2,131
Total unearned revenue - related parties 2,562 2,152 2,675 2,265
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Cansolidated

financial staternents

(Unit; Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
i.ease liabilities
Parent company 4,944 5,683 3,976 4,570
Related companies (relaied by shareholder) 2,018 112,275 - 5,693
Total 6,980 117,958 3,976 10,263
Less: Portion due within one year (1,507) (40,046) {541) (1,185)
Total lease liabilities - net of current portion 5,453 77.912 3,435 9,078

Loans to related parties and loans from related parties
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balances of loans between the Company and those
related parties and the movements were as follows:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Balance as at

31 Dacember 2023

Balance as at Increase

Short-term loans to refated padies 31 December 2022 during the year

Subsidiaries

Thai Base Station Co., Ltd. 128,500 - 128,500
-Mobile Plus Co., Ltd. 148,500 2,000 121,500
L.ucky Heng Heng Co., Lid. 20,500 3,500 24,000
Zecureasia Co., Ltd. 2,200 - 2,200
Total 270,700 5800 276,200
Less: Allowance for expected credit lasses (Note 13) (166,614) {255,239}

104,086 20,861

Short-term loans to related parties - net

P e

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Balance as at Increase

31 December 2022

Balance as at

Short-term loans from related parties (Note 19) during the year 31 December 2023

Subsidiaries

Samart Mobile Services Co., Ltd. 493,000 - 433,000
Samart Digitat Media Co., Lid. 40,000 3,500 43,500
Total 533,000 3,500 536,500

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated/Separate financial statements

Balance as at
31 Decamber 2023

Balance as at Increase Decrease

Long-term loans from related party 31 Bacamber 2022 during the year during the year

Parent Company
322,305 86,000

66,000

Samart Corporation Public Co., Lid. (388,305) -

Total 322,305

(388,305) .
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On 27 April 2023, the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company passed
a resolution approving the connected transactions involving receiving financial assistance
from Samart Corporation Public Company Limited, the parent company, in the amount not
exceeding Baht 750 million, which is repayable within 6 years by 2028, and carries interest
at the cost rate of the parent company plus 0.25% per annum. In September 2023, the Company
entered into a transaction concerning a loan of Baht 66 million from the parent company.
However, as at 31 December 2023, the Company has fully paid such loan to the parent company.

Directors and management’s benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had employee benefit
expenses payable to their directors and management as below.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
Short-term employee benefits 16.2 8.9 10.4 7.1
Post-employment benefits 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1
Total 16.4 8.0 10.5 7.2

Significant agreements with related parties
Service and management agreements

a) InMarch 2023, the Group entered into one-year information technology management
agreements with Samart Corporation Public Co., Ltd., the parent company. The Group
has to pay a monthly service fees totaling approximately Baht 0.4 million (Separate financial

statements; Baht 0.1 million).

B) In May 2020, the Group entered into the three-years facility service agreements with
Samart Corporation Public Co., Ltd., the parent company, under which it has to pay
monthly facility service fees at the rates stipulated in the agreements. Subsequently,
the Group renewed the agreements for a period of three years expiring in April 2026.

¢) InMay 2020, a subsidiary entered into the three-years facility service agreement with
Vilailuck International Holding Co., Ltd., a related company, under which it has to pay
monthly facility service fees at the rates stipulated in the agreement. Subsequently,
the subsidiary renewed the agreement for a period of three years expiring in April 2026.

Guarantee obligations with related parties

The Company has outstanding guarantees obligations with its related parties as described

in Note 36.2.2 to the financial statements.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated financiai statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
Cash 200 316 144 142
Bank deposits 168,074 315,587 147,032 282,138
Total cash and bank deposits 169,174 315,903 147,176 282,280
Less: Restricted bank deposits (102,795) (102,749) (102,795) (102,749)
Total cash and cash equivalents 66,378 213,154 44,381 179,531

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits carried interests between 0.15 and 1.10 percent

per annum (2022: between 0.15 and 0.55 percent per annum).

Trade and other receivables

Trade accounts receivables - related parties
(Note 6)
Aged on the basis of due dates
Nof yet due
Past due
Up to 3 months
Qver 12 months
Total
Accrued service income (Noie 6)
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 13)
Total trade accounts receivables - related parties - net
Total trade accounts receivables - unrelated parties
Aged on the basis of due dates
Not yet due
Fast due
Up to 3 months
3 -6 months
6 - 12 months
Over 12 months
Total
Accrued service income
l.ess: Aliowance for expected credit iosses
Total trade accounts receivables - unrelated parties,
net

Total frade accounts receivables - net

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit; Thousand Baht}
Separate

financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022

15,579 10,723 15,309 10,508

50 7,308 - 7,103

738 3,439 5,370 8,814
16,365 21,470 20,679 26,425
290 301 - -
- - (6,370) {5,370)

16,855 21,771 15,309 21,065
12,133 11,736 5,577 2,701
426,748 2,150 426,040 -
381,917 - 381,817 -
256,928 1,427 256,826 -
2,177,649 2,198,508 2,177,067 2,197,027
3,255,371 2,213,821 3,247,627 2,199,728
354,448 30,808 349,406 25384
(2,171,787) {2,180,042) (2,171,787) (2,179,464)
1,438,052 64,585 1,425,166 45,648
1,454,707 86,356 1,440,475 66,703
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Censolidated
financiat statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate
financial statements

Other receivables
Amounis due from and advance to related parties
(Note 8)

Other receivables - unrelated parties

Total

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses {Note 13)

Total other receivables - net

Total trade and other receivables - net

2023 2022 2623 2022
7 8 92,013 73,776
162 95 161 96
169 103 92,174 73,872
- - (49,681) (42,590)
169 103 42,493 31,282
1,454,876 86,459 1,482,968 97,985

The normal credit term is 30 days.

Set out below is the movement in the allowance for expected

receivables:

Consolidated

financial statements

credit losses of trade

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022

Beginning halance 2,180,042 2,053,475 2,184,834 2,057,452

Provision for expected credit losses . 167,430 - 167,382

Amount written off {458) (863) (345) -

Amount recovered (7,502) {40,000} {7,352) {40,000}
Decrease from disposal of investment in

subsidiary (317) - - -

2,171,767 2,180,042 2177137 2,184,834

Ending balance

Inventories

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Reduce cost to

Cost net realisable value Inventories-net
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Finished goods 99.046 253,834 Git) (33,219 98,435 220,715
Supplies - 4,546 - {4,548) - -
Goods in transit - 258 - - - 259
Total 89,048 258,739 (611)  (37,785) 98435 220,974
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10.

Separate financia! statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Reduce cost to

Cost net realisable value Inventcries-net
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Finished goods 986,463 251,944 (52) {31.274) 98,411 220,670
Supplies - 4,548 - {4,548) - -
Goods in transit - 259 - - - 258
Total 98463 256,749 (52)  (35.820) 98,411 220,929

During the current year, the Group reversed the write-down of cost of inventories by

Baht 37.2 million (2022: Baht 0.1 milion) and reduced the amount of inventories recognised as

expenses during the year (Separate financial statements: Baht 35.8 million (2022; Nib).

Other financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Note 10.1)

Listed equity investment

Financial assets at amortised cost

Deposits

Relention receivables

Total other financial assets

Current

Non-current

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statemenis

2023 2022 2023 2022

. 168 - 168
3,037 2,666 2,341 1,878
425 600 - -
3.462 3,434 2,341 2,046
425 768 - 148
3,037 2,668 2,341 1,878
3,462 3,434 2,341 2,046
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10.1 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

11.

Movements of listed equity investment account were summarised below.

Beginning balance

Decrease during the year

Cash received from disposal of listed equity

investment

Loss on disposal of listed equity investment

Total
Gain on changes in value

Ending balance

Other current assets

Advance for purchase of inventories

input tax refundable

Undue inpuf tax

Withhelding tax deducted at sources (Note 11.1)
Prepaid expenses

Advance to employes

Others

Less: Allowance for diminution in value

Total other current assets - net

(Unit; Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements/

Separate financial statements

2023 2022
168 396
(96) -
(72) -
{168) -
- (228)
- 168
{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
127,208 386,478 127,208 386,478
172,625 231,903 168,137 227,165
110,789 23,252 101,554 17,084
14,344 31,157 7174 3,801
12,689 12,280 9,848 5,938
20 13 20 -
15,478 5,487 15,085 1,881
- {1,863) - (1,863)
453,163 688,687 429,026 641,284

26




11.1 Withholding tax deducted at sources

12,

The balances of withholding tax deducted at sources as at 31 December 2023 and 2022,

aged on years, were summarised below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
Year financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
2011 228 226 - -
2012 358 356 - -
2014 2,398 2,398 - -
2018 - 2,101 - -
2019 - 8,210 - -
2020 - 7,514 - -
2021 686 4,420 686 686
2022 5,339 5,032 2,915 2,915
2023 5,339 - 3,573 -
Total 14,344 31,157 7,174 3,601

The Group regards withholding tax deducted at sources as an asset since they have the
right to ctaim for refund of it. However, the net realisable value of withholding tax depends

on the exercise right to claim it, and the results of any tax audit by the Revenue officers.

During the year 2023, the Group received the refund of the withholding tax of 2018 - 2021
totaling approximately Baht 20.8 million (Separate financial statements: Nil) (2022: received
the refund of the withholding tax of 2020 totaling approximately Baht 0.7 million (Separate
financial statements: Baht 0.5 million) and wrote off the withholding tax deducted at sources
of 2020 - 2022 amounting to Baht 0.1 million (Separate financial statements: Nil) (2022: Nil
(Separate financial statements: Nil)). However, the management has used judgement to
assess the outcome of the refund claims and believes that no loss will result. Therefore, no
allowance for diminution in value of withholding tax deducted at sources is recorded as at

the end of reporting period.
Restricted bank deposits

These represent fixed deposits pledged with the banks to secure credit facilities.

27



8¢

SBUZIPISANS L JWSWNSIAU)

859296 966'VLS

Glg'ove Z66'96¢ fBoL

zaz'es 0LL'80L P o0 uonelg aseg 18y ]

186"/ B6L°2 P17 oD BIsEsINISZ

169" L 8z8'ze "PI oD Buay Busy Ao

G0£'881 $69'65¢ "P¥T 00 SN BIIGOIN-]
pojisl b_jw.m Japun Sspepisqns Ll Juslsaall JO Joyeq sse)

£va'Lze v00'921 J96'G LY 196°CL 18N

(zoz'ce) {012'801) 000'05 000'0S 001 00l 000'0l 000°0} Py 00 uojelg aseq ey

(£8G°4) (662'2) 52 sz 001 00l 0sz'L 052"l Py 00 elseaindsy

{tsg'LL) (828'22) 005’2 008z 001 004 006'2 008'Z Py o0 Busk Busi Axon

G1£'205 L18'605 LI6'EY LLB'Er v16 ¥'i6 000'06% 000'08% PI 00 $RIAISS BIIGOW Wewes

{soe'ssl)  (s59'652) 000°'001 000'001 00l 001 000'00% 0o0'001L P 0D snid Bqon-|

£E'09 G81'69 GZG'BLZ 6z$'612 00l 001 000'00Z 000'00Z P17 0D epapy reubig pewes

Juadiad uadiag
z20z £20e ze0z €202 zz0T €202 zzoz £202
poylaw Ainba abieyuatiad Buipjoyeseyg {endeos dn-pieg awey s Auedwoy

J3pUN anjea Yooq jaN

(1ueg puesnoy | jup)

SMO|[0} SB BB Sjuswalels feloueuly sjeledas W pajuasald Se SSURIPISYNS Ul SIUSLUISSAUI JO s|i}a(]

SBLBIPISQNS Ul SJUSWISAAUL JO sjie1s(] LSl

SOLEBIPISANS Ul SJUSWSAAU]

el



13.2

As at 31 December 2023, investments in four subsidiaries (31 December 2022: four subsidiaries)
have deficit net book value under equity method. The excess losses are therefore adjusted
to short-term loans and trade and other receivables and presented the remaining as
liabilities for investment in subsidiary companies under equity method in the statement of
financial position as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2023 2022
Presented as allowance for expected credit losses,
net from related party transactions (Note 8)
Trade receivables 5,370 5,370
Other receivables 49,681 42,590
Short-term loans 255,238 166,614
310,290 214,574
Liabilities for investments in subsidiaries under equity method
[-Maobile Plus Co., Ltd. 87,208 24,829
Zecureasia Co., Ltd. 1,494 1,412
88,702 26,241
Total 398,992 240,815

Share of other comprehensive income

During the years, the Company recognises share of profit {loss) from investments in
subsidiaries in the separate financial statements as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht}
For the year ended 31 December

Separate financial statements

Share of other

comprehensive income (loss)

Share of profit (loss) from from investments in
Subsidiary companies investments in subsidiaries subsidiaries
2023 2022 2023 2022
Samart Digital Media Co., Lid. 11,801 (91,805) (2,959 {372)
{-Mobile Plus Cao., Lid. {71,350} (5,458) - -
Samart Mobile Services Co., Lid. 3,486 1,998 - -
Lucky Heng Heng Co., Ltd. (11,177 (4,969) - {(13)
Zecureasia Co., Ltd. {202) {258) - -
Thai Base Station Co., Ltd. (75.448) (21.822) - !
Total (142,880) (122,114) (2,959) (384)
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13.3

13.4

Details of investments in subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests
(Unit: Miltion Baht)
Proportien of equity Profivioss allocated to
interest held by Accumulated balance of non-cantrolling interests
Company's name non-controfiing interests nan-controfting interests during the year
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
(Percent) (Percent)
I-Sport Cornpany Limited and its 80 50 50 50 {22) (52)

subsidiaries (Subsidiary companies
of Samart Digital Media Co., Ltd}

Summarised financial information that based on amounts before inter-company elimination
about subsidiaries that have material non-cantrolling
Summarised information about financial position

(Unit; Million Baht)
[-Sport Company Limited

2023 2022
Current assets 14 45
Non-current assets 3 103
Current liabilities 64 107
Non-current liabilities 4 73

Summarised information about comprehensive income

{Unit: Million Baht)
[-Sport Company Limited

For the year ended
31 December

2023 2022
Revenue 119 61
Profit 29 (180)
Total comprehensive loss 29 (180)

Summarised information about cash flows

(Unit: Million Baht)
[-Sport Company Limited

For the year ended
31 December

2023 2022
Cash flows from (used in} operating activities 16 (134)
Cash flows used in financing activities (23) (13)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (7) (147)
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13.5

13.6

13.7

The plan to list I-Sport Co., Ltd. on the Market for Alternative Investment (MAI)

On 29 July 2015, the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders of 1-Sport Co., Ltd.,
a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to approve the plan to list it on the Market for
Alternative Investment (MAI) with the following details.

1. To transform the company into a public limited company for the issuance and the
initial public offering (IPO) of its shares and to list on the MAI Stock Exchange.

2. To increase the registered share capital from Baht 120 million (12 million ordinary
shares of Baht 10 each) to Baht 180 million (16 million ordinary shares of Baht 10
each) through an issuance of additional 4 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each to
offer 3 million shares to the initial public offering (IPO) and offer 1 million shares to the
existing shareholders which are the Company and Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd.
In addition, Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd. intends to offer 1 million shares to
the initial public offering (IPO).

3. To change the par value of ordinary shares from Baht 10 per share to Baht 0.25 per share.
However, the changing of the par value does not affect to the portion of the issuance

of its shares.
As at 31 December 2023, the subsidiary company has not yet proceeded the above matters.
Dissolution of subsidiary company

On 11 October 2008, an Extraordinary Meeting of the shareholders of I-Mobile (Cambodia)
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to liguidate the company. The process

of registering that company's dissolution and its subsequent liquidation are in progress.
Increase in the subsidiary's share capital

On 11 November 2022, the meeting of the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders
of Siam Sport Television Co., Ltd., which is a subsidiary company held by I-Sport Co., Ltd.,
approved the increase in its share capital by increase its registered capital of Baht 17 5
million from Baht 60 million to the new registered capital of Baht 235 million by issuing 17.5
million ordinary shares with par value of Baht 10 to be offered to its existing shareholders
according to their shareholding ratio. At the offering price of Baht 10 per share, the shares
were paid in full on 15 November 2022.
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13.8

13.9

Change in subsidiary company’s name

On 5 January 2022, the Extracrdinary General Meeting of the shareholders of
SIM2ASSET Co., Lid., a subsidiary company, approved to change its name from
“SIM2ASSET Co., Ltd." to “Lucky Heng Heng Co., Ltd.". The subsidiary registered with the
Ministry of Commerce for the change of its name on 13 January 2022.

Disposal of investment in subsidiary

On 7 December 2023, the Board of Directors’ meeting of [-Sport Company Limited,
a subsidiary company, approved the disposal of the entire investment in the ordinary shares
of Siam Sport Television Company Limited to unrelated person. The subsidiary sold its entire
investment in the ordinary shares of Siam Sport Television Company Limited to the
aforementioned person, totaling 23.5 million shares, for total amount of Baht 0.2 million.
The subsidiary registered the share transfer and received the payment in full on 25
December 2023.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated

financial statements

For the year ended
25 December 2023

Proceeds from disposal of investment 235
Less: Cash and cash equivalents at disposal date (3,056)
Net cash inflows from disposal of investment (2,821)

Less: Net assets excepted cash and cash equivalents at
disposal date 4,064

Gain on disposal of investment 1,243
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Cost

1 January 2022

Additions

Cisposals/Write-off

Transfer in (out)

31 December 2022

Additions

Disposals/rite-off

Transfer in (cut)

31 December 2023

Accumulated depreciation

1 danuary 2022

Depreciation for the year

Accumuiated depraciation
of assets disposed/
write-off

31 December 2022

Depreciation for the year

Accumuiated depraciation
of assets disposed/
write-off

31 Decemnber 2023

Separate financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)}

Altowance for impairment loss

1 January 2022
Increase during the year
31 December 2022
Increase during the year
31 December 2023

Net book value

31 December 2022

31 December 2023

Depreciation for the year

adminisirative expenses)

Furniture,
fixture and
Project office Motor Assets under
Condominium Equipment agquipment vehicles installation Total

11,512 140,383 849,101 17.604 2,287,680 3,286,290
- - 2,978 - 767,667 770,645
- - (5.0986) - {23} (5.119)
- 1,561,779 17,068 - (1,679,273) {426)
11,512 1,702,162 864,051 17,604 1,456,061 4,051,360
- - 53 - 152,842 152,885
“ - {405) (820) {3.485) 4.710)

- 405,860 (14,336) - {391,203} 321
11,512 2,108,022 849,363 16,784 1,214,215 4,199,896
6,721 57,030 833,113 17,604 914,468
572 70,817 8,387 - - 77,556
- - (1,121} - - {1,121}
7,293 127,647 838,359 17,604 - 890,903
571 135,767 1,874 - - 138,212
- - {405) {820) - {1,225)
7.864 263,414 839,828 16,784 - 1,127,880
- - 7,710 - 2,135 9,845

- - - 392,030 382,030

- 7.710 - 394,165 401,875

- 86,600 - - 305,599 402,199

. 96,600 7,710 - 599,764 804,074
4,218 1,574,515 17,982 - 1,061,888 2,658,612
3,648 1,748,008 1,825 - 514,451 2,267,932

2022 {Baht 72 million included in cost of services, and the balance in selling and distribution expenses and
77,556
2023 (Baht 135 million included in cost of services, and the balance in selling and distribution expenses and

138,212

adminisirative expenses}
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b)

The Company’s project equipment and assets under installation

The Company has invested in the main equipment (Digital Trunked Radio Network) and the
supporting systems that provide joint services as follows:

1. The host station control center consists of a set of hardware and software with various
functions and is linked together to control connection, channel switching, processing,
call control, signaling, and resource and number management within the system. It
alsc manages all Base Stations and Radio Subscribers within the system. It operates
in conjunction with a collaborative support system that includes Network management
systems, Conversation recording systems, Vehicle tracking systems, Push to talk application
support systems, Call detail recording systems, etc. The installation and distribution of
the center's equipment and system control base stations by region can provide
continuous services and effectiveness in meeting the customer demands in the field of
communication groups with a wide area and keeping up with changing situations.

2. The base stations that provide services will be installed in conjunction with the outdoor
antenna installed on building or telecommunication towers which functions ass limbs
of the network scattered across the country, allowing various walkie-talkies to
communicate with each other within the service range of the host station. Currently,
there are service areas in 77 provinces.

Active customer groups include government customers, such as the disaster prevention and
mitigation group, energy and utilities business group, transportation business group, logistics
business group, etc.

As at 31 December 2023, certain equipment items of the Group companies were fully
depreciated but are still in use. The gross carrying amount before deducting accumulated
depreciation and allowance for impairment loss of those assets amounted to approximately
Baht 1,774 milion (2022: Baht 1,777 milion) (separate financial statements: Baht 842
million (2022: Baht 846 million)).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had an allowance for impairment loss on equipment
amounting to Baht 804 million (2022: Baht 402 million), and had Baht 804 miflion (2022:
Baht 402 million) in the separate financial statements.

During the year 2023 the Company assessed the recoverable amount of its equipment for
the Digitat Trunked Radio System (DTRS) with total cost as at 31 December 2023 amounting
to Baht 3,322 million, services based on its value in use through the discounted future cash
flows. The resulting recoverable amount is lower than its carrying value due to an
anticipated decrease in the number of users. The Company therefore recognised an
additional impairment loss on equipment during the year amounting to Baht 403 million. As
at 31 December 2023, the Company had an allowance for impairment loss on equipment
amounting to Baht 796 million. Although the Group has conducted an evaluation and
exercised its best estimate, there remains an uncertainty about potential changes in
situations and technologies, which is typical for future events that have yet {o occur.

The key assumption used in the calculation of value in use was a pre-tax discount rate of
12 percent per annum.
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Goodwill

During the year 2022, I-Sport Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, fully recognised an impairment
loss on the goodwill, which relates to the purchase of shares of Siam Sport Television Co., Ltd.
by I-Sport Co., Ltd., amounting to Baht 59 million due to uncertainty of entering into the
long-term service agreement with an agency.

Iintangible assets

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Right for
Computer telecommunication
software Right for air time tower service Total

Cost
1 January 2022 100,510 3,191 119,334 223,032
31 December 2022 100,510 3,181 118,331 223,032
Additions 387 - 3.515 3,902
Transfer in 1,828 - - 1,928
Decreased from disposal of

investment in subsidiary - (3,191) - (3.121)
31 December 2023 102,825 - 122,846 225,671
Accumulated amortisation
1 January 2022 98,894 3,191 41,263 143,348
Amortisation for the year 720 - 14,329 15,049
31 December 2022 98.614 3191 55,592 158,397
Amortisation for the year 1,803 - 15,483 17,286
Decreased from disposal of

investment in subsidiary - (3.,191) - (3,191}
31 December 2023 101,417 - 71,075 172,492
Net book value
31 December 2022 896 - 63,739 64,635
31 December 2023 1,408 - 51,771 53,179

Right for air time

On 26 December 2014, |-Sport Co., Lid., a subsidiary company, purchased shares of Siam
Sport Television Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary company) with mutually agreed price. As a result of
the purchase of investment under the acquisition method, the subsidiary company recorded
the right for air time of sport program as intangible assets with five years useful lives.
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17.

Right for telecommunication tower service

On 1 September 2017, the Company purchased shares of Thai Base Station Co., Lid.
(a subsidiary company) with mutually agreed price. As a result of the purchase of investment
under the acquisition method, the Company recorded the right for telecommunication tower

service as intangible assets with ten years useful lives.

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions

Interest rate Consolidated

{percent per annum) financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht}
Separate

financial staterments

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Bank overdrafts MOR MOR 63,050 86,188 63,060 65,188
Short-tern loans from banks MMR MMR 2,700 3,000 -
Total 85,760 68,188 63,060 65,188

Movement in the short-term loans accounts during the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022 were summarised below.

Balance at beginning the year
Add: Addition
Less: Repayments

Balance at end of the year

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated

financial statements

2023 2022
3,000 3.000
11,700 12,000
(t2,000)  (12,000)
2,700 3,000

Bank overdrafts are secured by the pledge of some bank deposits and short-term loans

from banks of I-Sport Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, secured by the Company and Siam

Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd. (another shareholder).
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18.

18.

Trade and other payables

Consolidated

financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

Trade payables
Trade payables - refated parties (Note 8)

Trade payables - unrelated parties

Total trade payables

Other payables

Amount due to and advance from
refated parties (Note &)

Other payables - unrelated parties

Accrued expenses - related parties (Note 6)
Other accrued expenses

Total other payables

Total trade and other payables

Short-term loans

Short-term loans from related parties {Note 6)
Short-term loan from unrelated parties

Total short-term loans

Short-term loan from unrelated parties

2023 2022 2023 2022
1,135,910 176,087 1,135,810 176,087
138,925 25,405 136,710 21,365
1,275,835 201,492 1,272,620 197,452
722,558 220,919 741,280 234,660
269,763 136,635 156,320 20,898
580 477,923 550 477,923
1,227 861 1,228 860
994,008 836,338 899,376 734,341
2,269,933 1,037,830 2,171,996 831,783

Consolidated

financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate

financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
- - 536,500 533,000
10,379 12,708 - -
10,379 12,708 536,500 533,000

Short-term loans as at 31 December 2023 amount to Baht 10.4 million (2022: Baht 12.7 million)

are loans from Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd., carrying interest at the average 12-month

fixed deposit rate of the big five commercial banks plus 0.50 percent per annum.
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Movements in the long-term loans account during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 were summarised below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated/Separate
financial statements

2023 2022
Beginning halance 2,501,941 2,726,480
Repayments (651,123)  (224,539)
Ending balance 1,950,818 2,501,941

Under the Company’s loan agreements and memorandum, the Company must comply with
certain conditions which, among other things, require the Company to maintain a shareholding
percentage and financial ratios.

The Company has engaged in negotiations with financial institutions to amend the terms and
extend the repayment period for its long-term loans totaling Baht 299 million. The loan
repayments have been extended from December 2023 and January 2024 to March 2024 and
January 2025, amounting to Baht 107 milion and Baht 192 million, respectively.
The amendments were approved by the financial institutions in 2023. In addition, the Company
has successfully negotiated an adjustment of terms and an extension of the due date for a
long-term loan amounting to Baht 1,439 million. The original due date, initially set for the first
quarter of 2024, has been extended to January 2025, and this extension was duly approved by
the financial institution in January 2024. However, the Company has not obtained approval from
a financial institution to amend the terms and extend the maturity date of the long-term loan of
Baht 107 million, scheduled for repayment in January 2024. The Company is currently in the
process of negotiating with the financial institution to align the payment terms with the cash
flows received from the new business that is within the Company's expertise and experience.

Furthermore, in December 2023, the Company repaid the loan to Samart Corporation Public
Company Limited, the parent company, in accordance with the agreement, covering both the
principal and accrued interest, amounting to a total of Baht 436 million. The Company has
negotiated to alleviate the repayment conditions of the Subordinated Loan by committing to
repay a loan amount not exceeding the sum that the parent company will invest in additional
shares of the Company. The financial institutions have duly signed and acknowledged this
arrangement.

Upon considering compliance with the conditions specified in the agreements, it was noted
that the Company was unable to maintain the required a shareholding percentage.
Furthermore, upon reviewing the Company's financial statements as of 31 December 2023,
it was noted that the Company was unable to maintain the financial ratios as stipulated in
the loan agreements with the aforementioned financial institutions. As a result, the loan of
Baht 1,951 million became repayable at call. The Company has classified these loans as
current portion. However, the Company expects to receive waivers from the financial institutions,
and the outcome of the negotiations will depend on their consideration for approval. Based
on past experience, the Company has always received approval from financial institutions
for amendments to loan conditions and extensions of repayment periods of long-term loans,
In addition, the Company has received a Letter of Intent from its parent company committing
to providing continuous financial support to the Group.
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21,

Convertible debentures

On 27 April 2023, the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company passed a resolution
to approve the issuance and offering of new convertible debentures of the Company,
totaling not exceeding Baht 160 million, to specific investors, namely Advance Opportunities
Fund and Advance Opportunities Fund 1, who are not considered connected persons. The
purpose of this issuance is to secure working capital for the Company, invest in projects
and repay loans from financial institutions. The convertible debentures are unsubordinated
and unsecured, and will mature in 3 years with an interest rate of 0.50% per annum.

Movements of convertible debentures net from convertible debenture expenses for the year

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are summarised below.

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated / Separate

financial statements

2023 2022
Balance beginning of the year 37,964 27,832
Convertible debentures 150,000 500,000
Deferred interest expenses (12,000) (40,000)
{ssuing during the period 138,000 460,000
Amortisation of debenture expenses 13,948 39,332
Total 189,812 526,964
Convert during the period (168,000) {489,000}
Balance end of the year 21,912 37,964

The management of the Company decided to classify the convertible debentures as
financial liabilities since the number of shares required for their redemption will vary with the
conversion price and the effective interest rate earned by the debenture holders will be
close to the market interest rate or the Company'’s finance costs. Moreover, the conversion
to share capital will take no more than one year from the date the debentures are issued.
Therefore, the value of the financial liabilities is the fair value as at the transaction date and
there is, consequently, no remaining embedded derivative.

On 18 March 2022, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company's shareholder
passed a resolution approving the issuance and offering of the convertible debentures to
private placement investors who are not related with the Company in the amount of not
exceeding Baht 1,000 million. The proceeds from this debenture issuance will be used for
working capital, investments in projects and repayments of loans from financial institutions.
The convertible debentures details are summarised below.
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Type of convertible Senior Unsecured Convertible Debentures

debentures
Currency Thai Baht
Total principal amount Not exceeding Baht 1,000 mitlion as it can be broken down into

4 tranches as follows:

1. Tranche 1 not exceeding Baht 200 million, divided into 20 sets

of Baht 10 million per set

2. Tranche 2 not exceeding Baht 250 million, divided into 25 seis

of Baht 10 million Baht per set

3. Tranche 3 not exceeding Baht 250 million, divided into 25 sets

of Baht 10 million per set

4. Tranche 4 not exceeding Baht 300 million, divided into 15 sets

of Baht 20 million per set
Conversion condition The Company gradually will issue the Convertible Debentures
in order of the Tranche (1- 4) based on the liquidity of the
Company. The issuance shall follow the condition precedent
which is approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission
and other related regulators including requirements and
conditions of such convertible debentures.

The timeframe of the conversion is within 3 years after
shareholder’'s meeting approved the issuance. However,
if the Company does not issue all convertible debentures
within 3 years, the Company may request an approval of the
shareholders’ meeting to issue the unissued convertible
debentures depending on the requirement for the Company's
liquidity.

Interest rate 0.80 percent per annum, provided that the interest will be paid
on a quarterly basis.

Maturity period 3 years after the issuance of each Tranche.

Payback condition Repay in lumpsum after each due of specific Tranche according to
the term and condition of the Convertible Debenture. In such,
for each Tranche the maturity period is not over 3 years after
the issuance Convertible Debenture.
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Redeem rights before
due date

Conversion ratio

Conversion price

Conversion period

Number of ordinary shares
reserved for conversion

Secondary market for
ordinary shares issued
after conversion

The holders of the Convertible Debentures may or may not have
rights to redeem the Convertible Debentures before due date
and/or the issuer of the Convertible Debentures may or may
not have rights to redeem the Convertible Debentures before
due date too. The redemption has to be followed by the terms
and conditions of each set aligned with rules, regulations, laws
and/or permissions from related authorised Governmentat Bodies.

Principle amount of the Convertible Debentures dividend by
the conversion price.

Not lower than 90 percent of market price which does not in
the case the price is lower than the offering price offered pursuant
to the Notffication No. Tor Chor. 72/2558,

The market price shall be calculated based on the weighted
average price of the Company's shares trading on the Stock
Exchange of Thailand for at least 7 consecutive business days
but not more than 15 consecutive business days prior to the date
the debenture holders exercise their conversion rights. The
weighted average price is calculated from the average price
weighted by the trading volume of each consecutive business
days (“Floating Conversion Price”)

However, if the conversion price calculated above is lower than the
par value of the Company's shares. The Company must
issue additional compensation shares for the calculation of all
shares issued at par value is based on the conversion price.

The holder of the Convertible Debentures may exercise their
rights of conversion of the Convertible Debentures into the
Company's until the close of business on the date falling 1 week
prior to the maturity date of the Convertible Debentures.

2,213,029,597 shares (equivalent to 12.9 percent of the total
issued shares of the Company after registering the paid-up
capital which are based on the assumption that the Convertible
Debentures shall be entirely exercised.)

The Company shall arrange to list the ordinary shares issued
after the conversion of the Convertible Debentures on the
Stock Exchange of Thailand or other stock exchange where
the shares of the Company is a listed security at that time.

On 19 Aprit 2022, the Company entered into convertible debenture agreeament with private
placement investors following the approved resolution from the Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Company on 18 March 2022.
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22.

Leases

The group as a lessee

The group has lease contracts for various items of property, plant, and equipment used in

its operations. leases generally have lease terms between 4 - 10 years.

a}

Right-of-use assets

Movements of right-of-use assets for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022

are summarised below:

1 January 2022

Addition

Depreciation for the year

Allowance for impairment

31 December 2022

Depreciation for the year

Decrease

Write-off right-of-use
assets

Reversal of impairment
loss on right-of-use
assets

Decrease from leases

termination

31 December 2023

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Bant)

Transmission Right-of-use

Equipment building space  Motar vehicles Total
150,514 12,740 2,554 165,8C8
- 2,398 - 2,398
{26.061) (2,378) {1,417) (29,857)
(77,292) - - (77,292)
47,181 12,759 1,137 61,057
{9,784) (2,394) 811N (12,789)
- (47) - (47
{364) - - (354)
77.292 - - 77,292
(114,305) (4,475) (526) (149,306)
- 5,843 - 5,843
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b)

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate financial

statements
Right-of-use
building space
1 January 2022 10,601
Depreciation for the year {1,448}
31 December 2022 9,155
Depreciaticn for the year {1,434)
Decrease from lease modification (97)
Decrease from lease termination (4.475)
31 December 2023 3,149

Lease liabilities

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial staterents

2023 2022 2023 2022
lease payments 7,870 130,224 4,601 12,072
Less: Deferred interest expenses (910) (12,288) (625) {1,809)
Total 5,960 117,958 3,976 10,263
L.ess: Portion due within one year {1,507) (40,048) (541) (1,185)
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 5,453 77,912 3,435 8,078

Movements of the lease liabilities account during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 were summarised below.

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
Balance at beginning the year 117,958 126,881 10,282 11,380
Increase (decrease) from lease modification {47} 2,388 (87) -
increase in interest during the year 5777 5,542 481 542
Lease payments (30,576) (17,863) {1,702) (1,670)
Decrease from lease termination (86,152) - {4,968) -
Balance at end of the year 6,960 117,958 3,876 10,262

A maturity analysis of lease payments is disclosed in Note 38.1 under the liquidity risk.
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c¢) Expenses relating to leases that are recognised in profit or loss

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 12,789 29,857 1,434 1,446

Interest expense on lease liabilities 5777 8,542 481 542

Expense relating to short-term leases 296 860 - -
Expense relating o leases of low-value

assels 336 740 - -

d) Other

The Group had total cash outflows for leases for the year ended 31 December 2023 of
Baht 18 miliion, including the cash outflow related to short-term lease, leases of low-
value assets, (2022: Baht 19 million).

Siam Sport Television Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, has entered into the hire purchase
agreements with related company and leasing companies for rental of motor vehicles with
transmission tools and equipment and media asset management system for use in its
operations, whereby the lease agreements carried interest 7.26 percent per annum and
it is committed to pay rental on a monthly basis. The terms of the agreements are generaliy
3 years,

On 17 November 2021, the subsidiary company entered into a memorandum of amendment to
lease agreement with the related company, in order to extend the payment period of rental
order to [ease agreement by 3 years.

During the year 2022, the subsidiary company recognised an impairment loss on such right-
of-use assets of Baht 77.3 million to reduce the carrying amount of the assets to their
recoverable amounts, because of the uncertainty of entering into the long-term service
agreement with an agency.

Subsequently, on 15 December 2023, the subsidiary requested to terminate the
aforementioned hire purchase agreement. The subsidiary has proposed that another
company {(which is not a related company) become the new buyer at a price of Baht §1.5 million.
Therefore, the subsidiary wrote off the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting to
Baht 114.8 million and Baht 81.2 million, respectively, and reversed the allowance for
impairment of right-of-use assets amounting to Baht 77.3 million. The subsidiary recognised
a profit of Baht 43.7 million from the termination of this lease agreement in profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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23,

Provision for long-term employee benefits

Provision for long-term employee benefits, which represents compensation payable {o

employees after they retire, was as follows;

Provision for long-term employee benefits
at beginning of year
[ncluded in profit or loss:
Current service cost
Interest cost
Reversal from disposal of investment in subsidiary
Employee transferal
Gain on settlement
included in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial (gain) loss arising from
Financial assumptions changes
Experience adjustments
Reversal from disposal of invesiment in
subsidiary
Benefits paid during the year
Provision for long-term employee benefits
at end of year

Consolidated
financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate
financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022

12,108 12,950 5,392 6,271
709 877 230 318
229 155 82 80
(5,509) . - -
. (68) - (B8)
. (1,046} - (430
. (448) - (141)

- 1,399 . 382
2,859 - . .
(2,349) (1,511) (2,349) -
8,147 12,108 4,355 6,392

The Group expects to pay Baht 0.6 million of long-term employee benefits during the next year

(Separate financial statements: Baht 0.6 million) (2022. Baht 2 million and Separate

financial statements: Baht 2 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the weighted average duration of the liabilities for long-term employee

benefit is 6 - 35 years (Separate financial statements: 6 years) (2022: 6 - 35 years and

separate financial statements: 6 years).

Significant actuarial assumptions are summarised below.

Consolidated

financial statements

{Unit: Percent per annum)
Separate
financial statements

2023 2022
Discount rate 20-49 20-48
Salary increase rate 3.0-45 3.0-45
Turnover rate 0-24 0-24

2023 2022
26 2.0
3.0-45 3.0-45
0-24 0-24
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24.

The result of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of
the long-term employee benefit obligation as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are

summarised below.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Liability increase {decrease) Liahility increase (decrease)
Increase 1% Decrease 1% increase 1% Decrease 1%

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Discount rate {0.5) 0.7 0.5 0.8 ©.2) (0.2} 0.2 0.2
Salary increase rate 0.6 0.8 {0.5) 0.7) C.2 0.2 (0.2} (0.2)

Increase 20%  Decrease 20%  Increase 20%  Decrease 20%

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Turnover rate (0.5) 0.7) 0.8 09 (0.2) {0.2) 0.3 0.2

Share capital and warrants
Share capital

Number of Registered

ordinary shares share capital

(Thousand shares) {Thousand Baht)

Registered share capital

1 January 2022 16,759,170 1,675,917
Decrease in registered share capital (1,821,220) (182,122}
Increase in registered share capital 2,213,028 221,303
1 January 2023 17,150,979 1,715,008
Decrease in registered share capital {3.617.839) {361,784)
Increase in registered share capital 37,126,442 3,712,644
31 December 2023 50,658,582 5,065,958
Year 2022

On 18 March 2022, an extraordinary general meeting of the Company's shareholders
passed the following resolutions:

1. Approving the decrease of the Company's registered capital of Baht 182,122,044.40
from Baht 1,675,917,022.50 to the new registered capital of Baht 1,493,794,978.10 by
cancelling 1,821,220,444 ordinary shares with par value of Baht 0.10 remaining from
the allocation to reserve for the issuance of convertible debentures. The Company
registered the decrease in share capitaf with the Ministry of Commerce on 21 March 2022,
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Approving the increase of the Company's registered capital of Baht 221,302,959.70
from Baht 1,493,784,878.10 to the new registered capital of Baht 1,715,097,937.80 by
issuing 2,213,029,597 new ordinary shares with par value of Baht 0.10 in order to
reserve for the exercise of the conversion right of the Convertible Debentures. The
Company registered the increase in share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on
22 March 2022,

Year 2023

On 27 Aprit 2023, the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company passed the
following resolutions,

1)

2)

Approving the increase in the Company's registered capital of Baht 309,434,611.40, from
Baht 1,715,097,837.80 to Baht 2,024,532,549.20, by issuing 3,094,346,114 newly
issued ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 0.10 each. The purpose of the issuance is
to (1) accommodate the conversion rights of the convertible debentures and (2) allocate
the newly issued ordinary shares by private placement. The Company has already
registerad the increase in share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 19 May 2023.

Approving the allocation of not exceeding 1,207,549,703 newly issued ordinary shares
with a par value of Baht 0.10 each to accommodate the conversion rights of the
convertible debentures and approve the Company determining the conversion price of
convertible debentures to be issued in private placement, which may be lower than the par
value but not less than Baht 0.01 per share.

Approving the issuance and allocation of not exceeding 1,886,796,411 newly issued
ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 0.10 each by way of private placement, to be offered
to specific investors, including Echelon Capital Holdings Limited, who is not considered
a connected person, and/or other investors as determined by the subsidiary for additional
private placement. [n addition, the resolution approved the subsidiary determining the
offering price of the newly issued ordinary shares for private placement, which may be
lower than the par value but not less than Baht 0.01 per share. The conversation price
is not less than 90 percent of weighted average price of the subsidiary’s share trading
for not less than 7 consecutive business days but not more than 15 consecutive
business days prior to the date the offering price is determined.

On 28 November 2023, an extraordinary general meeting of the Company's shareholders
passed the folfowing resolutions:

1.

Approving the decrease of the Company's registered capital of Baht 361,783,921.40, from
the existing registered capital of Baht 2,024,532.549.20 to the new registered capital of
Baht 1,662,748,627.80 by canceling 3,617,839,214 unissued shares with a par value of
Baht 0.10 per share, which remained from the share allocation to accommodate (1) the
exercise of warrants to purchase ordinary shares of the Company (SDC-W1) allocated
to existing shareholders who subscribed and had been allocated the newly issued
ordinary shares issued and offered to existing sharehoiders in proportion to their
shareholding (Right Offering) per the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders for the year 2018 held on 27 Aprit 2018, and (2) the issuance and
allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares through a private placement, i.e.,
Echelon Capital Holdings Limited, who is not considered a connected person, and/or
other investors who are considered private placement, per the resolution of the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders for the year 2023. The Company registered the
decrease in share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 29 November 2023.
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Approving the issuance and offering of newly issued convertible debentures for use as
working capital of the Company for project investments and loan settlement with banks.
The total offered value will not exceed Baht 650,000,000, and the offering will be made
to specific investors that are Advance Opportunities Fund and Advance Opportunities
Fund 1. These funds are identified as not being connected persons of the Company.

Approving the increase of the Company's registered capital of Baht 3,403,209,625.60, from
the existing registered capital of Baht 1,662,748,627.80 to the new registered capital of
Baht 5,065,958,253.40 by issuing 34,032,096,256 ordinary shares with a par value of
Baht 0.10 to accommodate (1) the conversion rights of the convertible debentures issued to
specific investors, and (2) allocation the newly issued ordinary shares to the existing
shareholders in proportion to their shareholding (Right Offering). The Company
registered the increase in share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 30 November 2023.

Approving the allocation of newly issued ordinary shares not exceeding 2,855,926,276 shares
with a par vafue of Baht 0.10 per share to accommodate the conversion rights of the
convertible debentures issued and offered to Advance Opportunities Fund and Advance
Opportunities Fund 1, which are not connected persons of the Company. Additionally,
the Company is approved to designate the conversion price of the convertible debentures,
which may be lower than the par value of the Company but not less than Baht 0.01 per share.

Approving the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares not exceeding
31,176,169,980 shares, with a par value of Baht 0.10 per share, to offer to existing
shareholders in proportion to their shareholding (Right Offering), whether once or
several times. The allocation ratio is set at 1 existing ardinary share to 2 newly issued
ordinary shares, with fractions resulting from the calculation of such allocation being
disregarded, at the offering price of Baht 0.05 per share.

Approving the designation of the conversion price of the convertible debentures issued
and offered in accordance with the resolution of the Extracrdinary General Meeting of
Shareholders held on 18 March 2022. The designated conversion price may be lower
than the par value of the Company but not less than Baht 0.01 per share.

The Company has already registered the increase in paid-up share capital with the Ministry
of Commerce.

Number of Paid-up
ordinary shares share capital Share premium
(Thousand shares) (Thousand Baht) (Thousand Baht)

Issue and paid-up share capital

1 January 2022 12,499,844 1,248,084 3,167,745
Increase from exercise of canvertible

debentures 1,475,021 147,503 341,497
31 December 2022 13,974,865 1,397,487 3,508,242
[ncrease from exercise of convertible

debentures 1,724,330 172,433 {4,433)
fssued additional shares 14,093,820 1,408,382 (704,691)
31 December 2023 29,783,015 2,979,302 2,800,118

The Company has already registered the increase in paid-up share capital with the Ministry
of Commerce.
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26.

Warrants

On 27 April 2018, the Annual General Meeting of the Company’s shareholders passed a
resolution to issue warrants no. 1 (SDC-W1) up to 2,200,125,000 units of warrants to the
existing shareholders of the Company who subscribe to and are allocated newly issued
shares by offering to them in proportion fo their shareholdings (rights offering) at the ratio of 4
newly issued shares to 1 warrant, without any cost. The exercise ratio is 1 warrant : 1 share,
with an exercise price of Baht 0.5 per 1 ordinary share. The warrants have a life of 5 years
and are exercisable on 15th of March, June, September and December of each year
throughout the life of the warrants, commencing from 28 December 2018 until 1 June 2023.

Warrants as at

Exercised or 31 December
Warrants Exercise price Exercise ratio  Warrants issued canceiled 2023
(Baht per unit) (Warrants: {Thousand units) {units) (Thousand unifs)
ordinary shares)
SDC-W1 0.50 11 1,731,043 1,731,043

The warrant has been expired and ceased to be listed securities since 2 June 2023.
Statutory reserve

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is
required to set aside a statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net profit after deducting
accumulated deficit brought forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the
registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution.

Service income

Service income for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 was summarised as
foliowings:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Censclidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2622
Service income under telecommunication service
license - Type 1 2,098 1,298 2,098 1,288
Cther service income 182,067 156,759 79,634 37,382
Total service income 184,163 158,057 81,730 38,680
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27. Revenues from contract work
27.1 Contract balances

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Caonsclidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
Contract assets
Accrued income 354,738 31,107 349,406 25,384
Total contract assets 354,738 31,107 349,406 25,384
Contract liabilities
Unearned revenue {3,497) {78,450} {2,821) (76.885)
Total contract liabilities (3,497) {78,450) (2,821) {76,885)

27.2 Revenue to be recognised for the remaining performance obligations

As at 31 December 2023, revenue aggregating to Baht 197 million {2022: Baht 1,821
million) is expected to be recognised in the future relating to performance obligations that
are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) of contracts with customers (Separate financial statements:
Baht 197 million (2022: Baht 1,821 million)). The Group expects to satisfy the performance
obligations within 2024.

28. Other income

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consclidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
Gain on sales of equipment 394 1,387 349 315
Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiary

(Note 13.9) 1,243 - - -

Reversal of impairment loss on equipment 2,622 - 28622 -
Gain from lease modification 43,645 - 494
Management fee income - - 9,480 8,436
Others 7,457 5,420 4,474 4,235
Total other income 55,361 8,807 17,419 13,586
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Expenses by nature
Significant expenses classified by nature were as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
Purchase finished goods for sales 1,135,194 641,375 1,134,538 640,823
Changes in inventories 122,539 21,973 122,518 21,897
Impairment loss on equipment 404,821 392,030 404,821 382,030
Depreciation and amoriisation 173,208 132,685 139,647 79,002
Salaries and wages and other employee benefits 55,183 52,440 18,171 17,028
Marketing expenses 7,194 7,577 - -
Rental expenses from operating lease and
services agreements 6,817 6,638 3,664 3,577
Provision for expected credit losses - 127,430 - 127,382
impairment loss on right-of-use assets - 77,292 - -
Write-off goodwill - 59,323 - -
Transmission equipment rental expenses - 471 - -

Other expenses

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate

financtal statements financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
Loss from long-term provision 61,600 - - -
Impairment loss on other non-current assets 50,833 - - -
Write-off fixed assets 3,485 835 3,485 835
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets - 77,292 - -
Write-off goodwill - 56,323 - -
Others 517 £8 73 _ -
Total other expenses 116,435 137,508 3,658 B35
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Finance cost

Consoclidated

financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate

financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022

Interest expenses on:

Bank loans 137,184 113,491 136,902 113,285

Convertible debenturss 14,666 39,427 14,066 39,427

Loans from related parties 15,182 14,504 21,345 17,390

Lease liabilities 5,777 6,542 481 542
Total interest expenses 172,209 173,964 172,794 170,654
Bank charges 9,574 9,687 2,487 9,497
Total finance cost 181,783 183,661 182,281 180,151

Income tax

Income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were made up as

follows:

Consolidated

financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate

financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
Current tax
Current income tax charge 1,734 1,517 - -
Deferred tax
Relating to origination and reversal of
temporary differences (89) 298,427 610 291610
Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss 1645 298,944 610 291,610
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The amounts of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
Deferred tax relating to actuarial loss - (48) - (24)
Income tax income reported in
other comprehensive income - (48) - (24)

The reconciliation between accounting loss and income tax expenses was shown below.

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
Accounting loss before tax {736,857) (965,385) (752,822} (883,524}
Applicable tax rate 15% and 20% 15% and 20% 20% 20%
Accounting loss before tax multiplied by income
tax rate (146.813) (192,827} (150.,584) (176,705)
Share of loss from investment in subsidiaries - - 28,576 24,423
Effects of:
Utifisation of tax loss carry forward - (79) - -
Non-deductible expenses 18,077 728 415 480
Additional expenses deductions allowed (5086) {834) - -
Others (202) - - -
Total 14,369 (185} 415 480
Write-off of deferred tax assets - 311,208 - 291,810
Deferred tax asse!s not recognised 134,089 181,748 122,203 151,802
Income tax expenses reported in profit or [oss 1,645 299,944 610 281,610
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The components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Statement of financial position

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
Deferred tax assets
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories 1 228 - .
Provision for long-term employee henefits 488 450 - -
Unused tax loss 18,364 18,364 18,364 18,364
Others - 8 - -
Total 18,853 19,050 18,364 18,364
Deferred tax liabilities
Accumulated amortisation - intangible assets (3.082) {3,977 - -
Others (1.217) (607} (1,217 (607)
Total (4,299) (4,584) (1,217) (607)
Deferred tax, net 14,554 14,466 17,147 17,757

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in statement of financial position were as follows:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Statement of financial position

Consoclidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2023 2022 2023 2022
Deferred tax assets 14,554 14,466 17,147 17,757
Deferred tax, net 14,554 14,466 17,147 17,757

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has Baht 18 million (2022: Baht 18 million) deferred

tax assets in relation to tax loss carried forward deductible against future profit in tax
calculation if the Company has sufficient profit.
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33.

The Company has signed for a new business under the expertise and experience of the
Company and it is able to commence business operations immediately thereafter. The
Company expects to gain sufficient profit to utilise tax loss carried forward. It therefore
believes that it will benefit from the recorded deferred tax assets, considering the current
situation. Although the Company has evaluated and exercised its best estimate, there is still
uncertainty regarding the current situation and future changes in circumstances, which is

normal for future events that have not yet occurred.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has deductible temporary differences Baht 3,089
million and separate financial statements: Baht 3,036 million (2022: Baht 2,796 million and
separate financial statements: Baht 2,683 million) and unused tax losses which will expire in
2024 - 2028 totaling Baht 1,723 million and separate financial statements: Baht 1,513 million
(2022: unused tax losses which will expire in 2023 - 2027 totaling Baht 2,195 million and
separate financial statements: Baht 1,818 million), on which deferred tax assets have not
been recognised as the Group believes that the future taxable profits may not be sufficient to
allow utilisation of the temporary differences and unused tax losses.

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing loss for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing loss for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the total sum of the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year plus the weighted
average number of ordinary shares which would need to be issued to convert all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. The calculation assumes that the conversion
took place either at the beginning of the period or on the date the potential ordinary shares
were issued according to the portion of exercise.

As at 31 December 2023, the remaining of convertible debentures of Baht 23 million (which derived
from the convertible debentures issued) are exclude from the diluted weighted average
number of ordinary shares calculation because the effect would have been anti-dilutive,

As at 31 December 2022, the warrants are excluded from the potential ordinary shares since
their exercise price is higher than the fair value of the ordinary shares. As at 31 December 2023,
the warrant has been expired and ceased to be listed securities since 2 June 2023.
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34.

Segment information

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to make decisions
about the allocation of resources to the segment and assess its performance.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their

products and services. The Group have two business segments as follows:
1. Digital Network segment

Provision Digital Trunked Radio systems and distribution equipment, audio - visual
equipment network and software systems and a mobiie antenna services provider
(Mobile Virtual Network Operator).

2.  Digital Content segment

2.1 Provision of voice services, audiovisual or multimedia services and infotainment

services through mobile phones
2.2 Content provider through multimedia channels
2.3 Producer of television
2.4 Provision of multimedia and interactive media services
2.5 Provision of website services
2.6 Provision of entertainment services as part of intelligent marketing strategy

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating

segments.

The chief operating decision maker monitors the operating results of the business units
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and assessing
performance. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit or loss and total
assets and on a basis consistent with that used to measure operating profit or loss and total

assets in the financial statements.

The basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments is set out in

Note 6 to the financial statements.
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35.

(Unit; Milliors Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2027
Revenue from contracts with customers
Sales N 132 89 131
Service income 184 1568 82 38
Revenue from contract work 1,624 342 1,624 342
Total 1,889 6832 1,798 512
Timing of revenue recognition:
Revenue recognised at a point in time 91 132 85 131
Revenue recognised at over time 1,808 500 1,708 381
Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,899 632 1,795 512

Geographic information

The Group operates in Thailand only. As a result, all the revenues and assets as reflected

in these financial statements pertain exclusively to this geographical reportable segment.

Major customers

For the year 2023, the Group had revenue from 2 major customers in amount of Baht 1,703 million
and Baht 32 million, arising from contract works deliverable and product sales (2022:
the Group had revenue from 2 major customers in amount of Baht 342 million and Baht 34 million,

arising from contract works deliverable and product sales).
Provident fund

The Company, subsidiary companies and their employees have jointly established
a provident fund in accordance with the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. The Company and
subsidiary companies contribute to the fund monthly at the rate of 3 - 10 percent of basic salary.
Their employees contribute to the fund monthly at the rate of 3 - 15 percent of basic salary.
The fund, which is managed by Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited and Bank of Ayudhya
Public Company Limited, will be paid to employees upon termination in accordance with the
fund rules. The contributions for the year 2023 amounting to approximately Baht 2 million
(Separate financial statements: Baht 1 million) (2022: Baht 2 million, Separate financial

statements: Baht 1 million) were recognised as expenses.
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36.

36.1

Commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group has commitments and contingent liabilities other than those disclosed in other
notes to financial statements as follows:

Lease commitments and service agreements

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has future lease payments required under
short-term leases, leases of low-value assets and service agreements as follows:

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial staterments
2023 2022 2023 2022
Within up to 1 year 11 11 3 3
Over 1 and up to 3 years 6 - 3 -
Total 17 11 6 3

36.2 QGuarantees

36.2.1Bank guarantees

As at 31 December 2023, there were outstanding bank guarantees issued by banks on
behalf of the Group, in respect of the normal course of certain performance bonds as
required in their business. The details of bank guarantees are as follows:

{Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financiai statements financial statements
2023 2022 2023 2022
Performance guarantees 402.49 402.91 393.49 393.91
Guarantee electricity use, among others - 0.10 -
402.49 403.01 393.48 393.91

36.2.2Guarantees to related parties

The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of the guarantees of subsidiaries' credit
facilities provided to banks as follows:

{Unit: Million Baht)
Guaranteed facilities

2023 2022
[-Sport Co., Lid. 10 -

I-Sport Co., Ltd. and Siam Sport Television Co., Ltd. - 10

These guarantees are effective for as long as the underlying obligations have not been
discharged by those subsidiaries.
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36.3

36.4
364.1

364.2

3643

Commitments in uncalled portions of investments

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has outstanding commitment in respect of
uncalled portions of investment in its local subsidiary of approximately Baht 3 million (2022:
Baht 3 million).

Other commitments

The Group entered into the service agreements with various companies between 1 and 3 years.
The Group has to pay a monthly facility service fee at the rate stipulated in the agreements.

On 10 March 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to enter into a consortium
with Samart Communication Services Co, Ltd. named SISC Consortium, for the purpose of
entering into an alliance service agreement for Digital Trunked Radio System with CAT
Telecom Public Co., Ltd. (Currently, CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd. has been merged with
TOT Public Co., Ltd. into National Telecom Public Co., Ltd.). The Company was appointed
as the lead company of SISC Consortium and is authorised to act on behalf of SISC
Consortium. The agreement is effective from the date that the agreement is signed and will
terminate when SISC Consortium has fully discharged its responsibilities under the
agreement. The Company is obliged to comply with certain conditions and pay fees for the
project as stated in the agreement.

Subsequently, on 24 August 2017, SISC Consortium entered into a business alliance
agreement with CAT Telecom Public Co., Lid. in order to increase its capability to provide
Digital Trunked Radio System (DTRS) services. The agreement will terminate on 31 July 2025.

On 2 October 2017, the Company entered into a three-year agreement with CAT Telecom
Public Co., Ltd. to resell digital trunked radio system services to end-users. The term shall be
automatically extended for another one-year term, uniess either party provide the other with
written notice of its election not to extend on before the date of expiration. Under the terms
of the agreement, the Company is obliged to pay minimum wholesaie service fees at a
stipulated rate.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has commitment to a company of approximately
USD 17 million or equivalent to Baht 586 million and Baht 42 million {2022: USD 35 miliion
or equivalent to Baht 1,227 million and Baht 521 million) relating to the purchase of
inventory for Digital Trunked Radic System (DTRS) services.
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36.5 Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has capital commitment of approximately Baht 51
million (2022: USD 1 million or equivalent to Bath 49 million and Baht 565 million)
regarding the purchases of equipment for Digital Trunked Radio System (DTRS) services.

As at 31 December 2023, Thai Base Station Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, has capital
commitment of approximately Bath 91 milfion (2022: Bath 92 million) regarding the purchases

of equipment and installation for telecommunication tower service for Tower-Co project.
36.6 Litigation and claims

On 27 November 2009, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with
TOT Public Company Limited for a 3G mobile phone network trial project. Subsequently, on
29 March 2011, the Company entered into an agreement to transfer rights and obligations
as per to the Memorandum of Understanding for the trial of the 3G mobile phone network
service to |I-Mobile Plus Co., Ltd., a subsidiary.

On 22 February 2017, TOT Public Co., Ltd. (now merged with CAT Telecom Public Co.,
Ltd. to form National Telecom Public Co., Ltd.) submitted a letter to the Office of National
Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission (NBTC) to notify the NBTC of the
cancellation of the cooperation under the Memorandum of Understanding with respect to
3G mobile network service trial project prior to notifying of such cancellation to [-Mobile Plus Co.,
Ltd., a subsidiary company. On 1 March 2017, the subsidiary company submitted a letter to
TOT Public Co., Ltd. and the NBTC to notify of the termination of i-mobile 3GX service
because the 3GX celiular phone system was frequently disrupted and TOT Public Co., Ltd.
was unable to permanently fix the problem. In addition, TOT Public Co., Ltd. had not
expanded its base station following its business plan in order to expand the coverage
across the country. Subsequently, on 22 June 2017, the NBTC submitted to the subsidiary a
letter regarding an approval of the termination of the Telecommunications Business License
type 1 and agreed with the company's recovery plan for the users of i-mobile 3GX.
Subsequently, the subsidiary submitted a letter notifying the NBTC that it had mutualiy
agreed with TOT Public Company Limited that the date of discontinuing the i-mobife 3GX
service would be 18 July 2017,
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Later, the subsidiary company has been notified by TOT Public Co., Ltd. demanding the
payment for Home Location Register (HLR) amounting to Baht 19 million. However, the
management and the legal department of the subsidiary company were of the opinion that
the subsidiary company was not liable to such payment because the data storage on HLR
did not reach the quota specified in the agreement. The subsidiary company filed a plaint
for compensation with TOT Public Co., Ltd. to the Civil Court since October 2018 amounting
to Baht 1,941 million Subsequently, on 9 March 2023, the Court of First Instance ruled that
TOT Public Company Limited (currently a National Telecommunications Public Company Limited)
made a payment to the subsidiary in the amount of Baht 748 million plus interest at the rate
of 7.5% per annum of such principal counting from the date of filing (filing on 4 October 2018)
untit 10 April 2021 and a rate of 5% per annum, which is the rate under the Civil and Commercial
Code from 11 April 2021 onwards until payment is made to the subsidiary. On 5 September 2023,
the subsidiary filed an appeal against the judgment of the Court of First Instance, requesting
the Court of Appeal to consider the case and order the defendant to pay additional damages

totaling Baht 812 million. Currently, the case is being considered by the Court of Appeal

In addition, TOT Public Co., Ltd. submitted a letter to the subsidiary demanding the payment for
accrued service fee totaling Baht 137 million (including, Home Location Register, mentioned
above). Subsequently, the subsidiary submitted a letter requesting to offset the service fee
with prepaid bulk or package that the subsidiary had purchased from TOT Public Co., Ltd.
with the balance of Baht 70 million.

Subsequently, during 2020, TOT Public Co., Ltd. filed a suit against the Company and the
subsidiary with the Central Administrative Court for breach of an administrative contract with
an amount in dispute of Baht 212 million (including interest thereon). The Central
Administrative Court issued an order not to accept the specific plaint regarding the service fee
payment for preparing and stering data in the Home Location Register (HLR) from April 2011
to October 2014 with interest and VAT. Subsequently, during 2021, the Supreme Administrative
Court reversed the order of the Central Administrative Court requiring the Central Administrative
Court to accept the plaint. On 30 April 2021, the Company and the subsidiary filed an amended
plaint with the Central Administrative Court.

While the case in under the consideration of the Administrative Court, on 21 October 2020,
the Company and its subsidiaries filed an objection against the jurisdiction and requested
a court decision per the Act on the Determination of the Powers and Duties among Courts,
Subsequently, on 27 May 2021, the Committee on Jurisdiction of Courts decided that
the case is in jurisdiction of the Court of Justice, not the Administrative Court. Subsequently,
on 12 November 2021, the Administrative Court issued a letter notifying of an order to transfer
the case to the Civil Court. On 12 January 2022, the Civil Court notified the Company that
the case had been transferred from the Administrative Court. On 14 Dacember 2023, the Civil Court
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37.

issued an order that both the Company and its subsidiary collectively pay Baht 137 miilion,
along with an interest rate of 5% per annum, starting from 20 December 2017, until the complete
settlement to TOT Public Co., Ltd. (now known as National Telecom Public Company Limited).
As of 31 December 2023, the subsidiary has fully recorded the liability (under provision and
other payable). Subsequently, on 9 February 2024, the subsidiary sought an extension for the
appeal period, which the court granted, extending the appeal deadline until 14 March 2024.

The legal advisor of the Group is of the opinion that TOT Public Co., Ltd. is in breach of the contract,
resulting in substantial business damages to both the Company and its subsidiary. For the
case filed by the subsidiary with the Civil Court, the Civil Court rules in favor of the subsidiary.
The subsidiary will prevail at the conclusion of the case. Therefore, the management of the
Group maintains confidence that the Group will not incur significant losses in connection
with these two cases. However, as of now, the outcomes of these cases remain pending

and are contingent upon future judicial procedures.

The subsidiary has exercised prudence in recognising the aforementioned debt in
accordance with accounting standards. This recognition does not alter the nature of the
case and shouid not be construed as a waiver of legal rights. Additionally, the recording of this
debt does not imply that the Company and its subsidiary will abstain from asserting their rights
through the legal justice process in the future. The Company and the subsidiary maintain
confidence in their legal position and are committed to pursuing the legal process until its

conclusion.
Fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had the assets and liabilities that were measured at
fair value using different levels of inputs as foliows (2023 Nil):

{Unit: Million Baht)
Consolidated financial statements/
Separate financial statements

31 December 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Financial assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Listed equity investment 0.2 - 0.2
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivatives
Foreign currency forward contracts - 1.0 1.0
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38.
38.1

Financial instruments
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial instruments principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, loans, investments, and short-term and long-term lfoans. The financial risks
associated with these financial instruments and how they are managed is described below.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade accounts receivable,
loans, deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is [imited to the carrying amounts as stated in the
statement of financial position.

Trade receivables

The Group manages the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures
and therefore does not expect to incur material financial losses. Outstanding trade
receivables are regularly monitored. In addition, the Group does not have high concentrations
of credit risk since it has a large customer base in various industries.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar credit risks. The calculation reflects the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off

according to the Group's policy determining the appropriateness.
Market risk

There are two types of market risk comprising foreign currency risk and interest rate risk.
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Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arise mainly from purchasing transactions
that are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company seeks to reduce this risk by entering
into forward exchange contracts when they consider appropriate. Generally, the forward

contracts mature within one year.

The balances of financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were summarised
below.

Consolidated financial

statements/Separate Exchange rate as at

Foreign currency financial statements 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
(Million) (Baht per 1 foreign

currency unit)

Financial liabilities

US doltar 0.58 5.63 34.3876 34.7335

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to their cash at banks, short-term
and long-term borrowings. Most of the Groups® financial assets and liabilities bear floating

interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate.
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's profit before tax to
a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of floating rate short-term
loans and long-term loans affected as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, with all other
variables held constant.

Consolidated

financial statements Separate financial statements
Increase/ Effect on lcss before tax Effect on loss before tax
Currency decrease increase/(decrease) increase/(decrease)

(%) 2023 2022 2023 2022
{Thousand {Thousand {Thousand {Thousand

Baht) Baht) Baht) Baht}
Baht +0.10 1,963 2,515 2,211 2,764
-0.10 {1,963) (2,515) (2,211) (2,764)

The above analysis has been prepared assuming that the amounts of the floating rate
borrowings and all other variables remain constant over one year. Moreover, the floating
legs of these borrowings are assumed to not yet have set interest rates. As a result,
a change in interest rates affects interest payable for the full 12-month period of the
sensitivity calculation. This information is not a forecast or prediction of future market

conditions and should he used with care.
Liquidity risk

The Group has a policy to control the risk of a shortage of liquidity by maintaining
an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents for the Group's operation. As at
31 December 2023, approximately 98% (2022: 89%) of the Group's debt wiil mature in
less than one year (The Company only: 98% (2022: 91%)) based on the carrying value of
borrowings reflected in the financial statements. The Group has assessed risk with
respect to refinancing its debt and concluded that the Group has access to a source of
funding, and the Group can request for roll over debt maturing within 12 months with
existing lenders.

The table below summarises the maturity profife of the Group's non-derivative financial
liabilities and derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows:
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Non-derivatives

Bank overdrafts

Short-term loans from financial
institutions

Short-term loans

Trade and other payahles

Lease liabilities

Long-term loans

Convertible debentures

Total non-derivatives

Non-derivatives

Bank overdraits

Short-term loans from financial
institutions

Short-term loans

Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

Long-term loans from related parties

Long-term loans

Convertible debentures

Total non-derivatives

Derivatives
Other current financial liabilities

Total derivatives

{Unit: Million Baht}

Consclidated financiai statements

As at 31 December 2023

On Less than 1to 5
demand 1 year years = 5 years Total
83 - - - 63
- 3 - - 3
10 - - - 10
2,270 - - - 2,270
- 2 5 - 8
2,048 - - - 2,048
- - 23 - 23
4,391 5 20 - 4,425

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2022

On Less than 1i05
demand 1 year years > 5 years Total
65 - - - 65
- 3 - - 3
13 - - - 13
1,038 - - - 1,038
- 46 84 - 130
- - 368 - 366
2,560 - - - 2,580
- - 41 - 41
3676 49 491 - 4,216




Non-derivatives

Bank overdrafts

Short-term loans from refated parties
Trade and other payabies

Lease liabilities

Long-ierm loans

Convertible debentures

Total non-derivatives

Non-derivatives

Bank overdrafts

Short-term loans from related pariies
Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

Long-term loans from related parties
Long-term loans

Convertible debentures

Total non-derivatives

Perivatives
Other current financial liabilities

Total derivatives

{(Unit: Million Baht)

Separate financial statements

As at 31 December 2023

On Less than ttob
demand 1 year years > 5 years Total
83 - - - B3
537 - - - 537
2,172 - - - 2,172
- 1 4 . 5
2,048 - - - 2,048
- - 23 - 23
4,820 1 27 - 4,848

(Unit: Million Baht)

Separate financial statements

As at 31 December 2022

On Less than 1to 5
demand 1 year years > 5 years Total
85 - - - 65
533 - - - 533
932 - . - 932
- 2 10 - 12
- - 366 - 366
2,580 - - - 2,560
. - 41 - 41
4,090 2 417 - 4,509
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38.2 Fair value of financial instrument

39.

40.

40.1

40.2

41.

Since the majority of the Groups’ financial instruments are short-term in nature or carrying
interest at rates close to the market interest rates, their fair value is not expected to be

materially different from the amounts presented in the statement of financial position.
Capital management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it has
appropriate capital structure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder
value. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio was 23.2:1 (2022:
71.1:1) and the Company’s was 24.4:1 (2022: 54.6:1).

Events after the reporting period

In June and August 2023, the Company issued convertible debentures and offered the
newly issued convertible debentures in accordance with the convertible debenture
issuance agreement No. 22 - 24, leaving a balance of Baht 23 million in non-convertible
debentures. These convertible debentures are set to mature on 6 June 2025. The
convertible debenture holders have exercised convertible rights in January and February
2024 of Baht 8 million and Baht 6 million, respectively. The Company registered the latest
paid-up share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 20 February 2024.

In addition, the Company has offered and issued a newly convertible debentures No. 25 - 26
pursuant to the convertible debenture agreement in January and February 2024 totaling
of Baht 20 million. The convertible debentures will be matured on 5 January 2027.
The convertible debenture holders have exercised convertible rights in February 2024 of
Baht 5 million, respectively. The Company registered the latest paid-up share capital with
the Ministry of Commerce on 13 February 2024.

On 22 February 2024, the Board of Director's Meeting of the Company considered to find
a solution to the shareholders’ equity less than 50% of paid-up capital situation and
compliance with the regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand in the event that the
Company's securities will be marked with "C" (Caution) sign. In this regard, the Company
will propose solutions to the situation to the meeting in order to provide information to

investors and related parties (Public Presentation).
Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors
on 22 February 2024.
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